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directors’ report
For the year ended 31 March 2012

The directors submit their report together with the audited consolidated and Company financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2012 of Max Petroleum Plc and its subsidiaries.

Results and dividend
The Group results are set out on page 40 and show a consolidated loss of US$8.2 million for the year ended 31 March 
2012 (2011: loss of US$18.2 million). 

The directors do not propose to pay a dividend.

Principal activities
Max Petroleum was incorporated in the United Kingdom on 8 April 2005 and admitted to trading on AIM on 
27 October 2005. Max Petroleum operates through subsidiary companies as set out in note 19 to the consolidated 
financial statements. The principal activity of the Group is the exploration, development and production of oil and gas 
assets within the Republic of Kazakhstan. The Group holds a 100% interest in the Blocks A&E Licence area covering 
over 12,455 km2 in the Pre-Caspian Basin in Western Kazakhstan.

Business review
The business review is incorporated by reference, forming part of this Directors’ Report. Further information about the 
development and performance of the Group’s business during the financial year and future prospects may be found in the 
pages below which form part of this report:

—— The Joint Chairmen’s Statement on page 3.
—— Business Review on pages 6 to 15.
—— Financial Review on pages 18 to 23.
—— The Corporate and Social Responsibility Report on pages 24 to 25.

Principal risks and uncertainties
The Group’s principal risk factors and uncertainties are set out in the Financial Review on pages 22 to 23.

Key performance indicators (“KPIs”) 
Details of KPIs used by management are set out on page 16.

Going concern
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position 
are set out in the Business Review on pages 6 to 15. The financial position of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity position 
and borrowing facilities are described in the Financial Review on pages 18 to 23. In addition, note 25 to the financial 
statements includes the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its financial risk management 
objectives; details of its financial instruments and hedging activities; and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk. 

The Group finances its exploration and development activities using a combination of cash on hand, operating cash flow 
generated from the sale of crude oil production, borrowings under its Credit Facility, and additional debt or equity 
financing as required. The Group is in the last year of the exploration period of its Licence and requires approximately 
US$10 to 15 million in additional exploration and appraisal capital for its shallow programme through March 2013, as 
well as additional capital for the future appraisal and development of its current and expected post-salt discoveries beyond 
fiscal year 2013. 

The Group is currently producing approximately 3,700 bopd generating approximately US$7 to 8 million per month in 
pre-tax revenue and significant net cash flow from operations, which is being applied in the near-term against trade 
payables relating to its exploration and appraisal activities and will be available to begin repaying borrowings under the 
Credit Facility in the medium term. The Group currently has limited or no additional borrowing capacity available under 
the Credit Facility. As of 15 August 2012, the Group had borrowed a total of US$55.2 million under the Credit Facility, 
including a US$3 million letter of credit. The Credit Facility matures on 31 March 2013 and requires that the Group 
begin making amortisation payments of US$2 million per month beginning in July 2012. The Group did not make an 
amortisation payment in July 2012 and is in ongoing discussions with Macquarie regarding the use of its net cash flow 
from operations to fund its shallow drilling activities, as well as the timing and amount of principal payments required 
prior to 31 March 2013. 
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Although the ongoing discussions with Macquarie have been constructive, the Group does not anticipate that additional 
borrowings or deferred principal payments under the Credit Facility will be available to fund its remaining shallow 
exploration programme. As a result, the Group is in discussions with various sources of debt and equity capital, including 
several operating oil and gas companies, to provide financing to finish its shallow exploration portfolio, as well as to 
refinance, in whole or in part, the Credit Facility. 

The Group also has US$85.6 million in Bonds that mature on 8 September 2013 and require semi-annual interest 
payments of US$2.9 million on 8 September and 8 March, respectively. The Group intends to restructure the terms of the 
Bonds in conjunction with any future refinancing of the Credit Facility. The Group has obtained written assurances from 
holders representing greater than 75% of the Bonds to defer the coupon payment due 8 September 2012 until 8 December 
2012 pending a broader restructuring of the Group’s outstanding debt. 

In August 2012, the Group entered into a US$7 million equity for services agreement with Zhanros Drilling LLP, 
whereby Zhanros will drill up to four post-salt wells and fund related ancillary services in exchange for up to 90,322,581 
ordinary shares at a price of 5p per share. While the Zhanros agreement does not inject any direct liquidity into the 
Group, it will allow for a portion of the shallow exploration portfolio to be drilled and assist in the Group’s efforts to 
complete a broader capital restructuring. 

The Group’s efforts to raise traditional equity capital in the near term have been hampered by recent regulatory changes 
in the Republic of Kazakhstan that require the Company to list on the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange (“KASE”) in order to 
obtain the regulatory consents necessary to conduct a traditional equity placement or rights offering. The Group 
understands that the KASE eligibility criteria are under review and may be amended in the near future such that the 
Company would be eligible to list on KASE, but the timing and ultimate resolution of this issue is uncertain. 

Although the directors are working to resolve the Group’s outstanding liquidity shortfall, there is an uncertainty that the 
Group will be able to extend or restructure the Credit Facility or its Bonds, or that additional debt or equity financing will 
be available. They have concluded that this factor, together with the other matters referred to above, results in the 
existence of a material uncertainty that may cast a significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. Nevertheless, based on its current production and net cash flow from operations, ongoing discussions with 
Macquarie, Bondholders, and other potential sources of debt and equity capital, the directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the Group will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For these reasons, they 
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial statements.

Based on their short-term cash forecasts, the directors believe that the combination of these factors will provide sufficient 
working capital to enable the Group to continue trading and remain solvent. However, these forecasts are necessarily 
based on the achievement of timing and targets some of which, although believed to be reasonable by the directors, are 
nevertheless outside the Group’s direct control. If significant delays or underperformance of production or revenue targets 
were to take place, these may render the Group’s cash resources insufficient.

Directors
The directors, who served during the year, and to date, were: 

Appointed Ceased

James A Jeffs Executive Co-Chairman 1 July 2005 –
Robert B Holland III Executive Co-Chairman 27 April 2006 –
Michael B Young President and Chief Financial Officer 22 January 2008 –
Lee O Kraus, Jr Non-executive Director 10 June 2007 –
David R Belding Non-executive Director 29 September 2005 –
Maksut S Narikbayev Non-executive Director 10 October 2006 –

One third of the existing directors will retire by rotation and offer themselves for re-election in accordance with the 
Company’s Articles of Association.
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Directors’ interests
The directors, who served during the year, and to date, had the following beneficial interests in the shares of the Company:

Share options Ordinary shares of 0.01p each

Exercise price 
range (pence) 31 March 2012 31 March 2011 31 March 2012 31 March 2011

James A Jeffs 4.75–20.00 17,281,271 17,281,271 107,091 107,091
Robert B Holland III 4.75–20.00 11,000,000 11,000,000 96,732 96,732
Michael B Young 4.75–20.00 10,250,000 10,250,000 235,274 235,274
Lee O Kraus, Jr 4.75–18.75 3,125,000 3,125,000 50,000 50,000
David R Belding 4.75–20.00 4,500,000 4,500,000 4,142,729 4,142,729
Maksut S Narikbayev 4.75–20.00 5,125,000 5,125,000 – –

Further details of the directors’ interests in share options are provided in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 33 
to 36.

Substantial shareholders
At 31 March 2012 the following parties had notifiable major interests of 3% or greater in the nominal value of the 
Company’s issued 0.01p ordinary shares:

2012

Number of shares Percentage

Macquarie Energy Capital Ltd 199,981,965 19.64%
Henderson Global Investors 95,528,969 9.38%
TD Waterhouse 59,432,836 5.84%
Halifax Share Dealing Limited 55,805,461 5.48%
Barclays Stockbrokers Ltd 48,269,922 4.74%
Ceske sporitelny 40,845,581 4.01%
Kachshapov Family 36,000,000 3.53%
UBS Investment Bank 30,680,300 3.01%

Interests in contracts
There were no contracts or arrangements during the period in which a director of the Company was materially interested 
and which were significant in relation to the business of the Group or the Company. 

In July 2008, Composite Capital LLP, a private company beneficially owned by Mr Kraus, and the Kachshapov Family 
and various companies affiliated with the Kachshapov Family, entered into a Deed of Right of First Refusal (the “ROFR”) 
in conjunction with the Company’s completion of the exchange agreement with Horizon Services N.V. The ROFR grants 
Composite Capital, or its designee, a preemption right to acquire up to 36 million ordinary shares in the Company 
beneficially owned by the Kachshapov Family within 30 business days of a proposed sale of such shares by the 
Kachshapov Family or their affiliates.

Creditors’ payment policy and practice
The Group aims to pay all its creditors promptly. For trade creditors, it is the Group’s policy to:
(i)	 Agree the terms of the payment at the start of business with that supplier.
(ii)	 Ensure that suppliers are aware of the terms of payment.
(iii) 	Pay in accordance with contractual and other obligations.

The number of days of average daily purchases included in trade creditors at 31 March 2012 was 63 days (2011: 43 days).

Employment policies
The Group is committed to pursuing an equal opportunity employment policy, covering recruitment and selection, 
training, development, appraisal and promotion. The Group recognises the diversity of its employees, its customers, and 
the community at large and seeks to use employees’ talents and abilities to the fullest. This approach extends to the fair 
treatment of people with disabilities, in relation to their recruitment, training, and development. Full consideration is 
given to the retention of staff who become disabled during employment. 

directors’ report
continued
For the year ended 31 March 2012
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Employee communication 
The Group is committed to effective communications, which it maintains through regular information releases and staff 
briefings. Formal communications with employees take place through these channels. With respect to the Group’s 
operations in Kazakhstan and recruitment of Kazakhstani employees, announcements, contracts, interviews, and 
advertisements are conducted in English, Russian and Kazakh languages, as applicable. 

Health, safety and environment
The Group’s policy and practice is to comply with health, safety and environmental regulations and requirements of the 
countries in which it operates, to protect its employees, contractors, assets and the environment. Environmental risk 
factors are more fully considered in the accompanying Financial Review.

Financial instruments risk assessment
The directors’ financial instruments risk assessment is disclosed in note 25 to the accompanying financial statements on 
page 67.

Share capital
The Company’s authorised and issued share capital at 31 March 2012 is set out in note 29 to the accompanying financial 
statements on page 74.

Post balance sheet events
All post balance sheet events are described in note 37 to the accompanying financial statements on page 83.

Auditors
Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this annual report confirms that:

—— so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and
—— he has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act 2006.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated their willingness to continue in office as auditors and a resolution 
concerning their reappointment will be proposed at the next Annual General Meeting.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors 
have prepared the Group and Parent Company financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted by the European Union. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the 
Group and of the profit or loss of the Company and Group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the 
directors are required to:

—— select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
—— make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
—— state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and
—— prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will 
continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and the Group and 
enable them to ensure the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information on the 
Company’s website. The Company’s website is maintained in compliance with AIM Rule 26. 

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

On behalf of the Board

Robert B Holland III		  James A Jeffs			   Michael B Young
Executive Co-Chairman		  Executive Co-Chairman		  President and Chief Financial Officer
23 August 2012		
 

directors’ report
continued
For the year ended 31 March 2012
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT
For the year ended 31 March 2012

In common with the Board’s commitment to compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, so far as is 
practicable taking into account the size and nature of the Company, the Company has adopted the Principles of Good 
Governance relating to directors’ remuneration. The Company discloses certain information relating to directors’ 
remuneration in this report, which is not audited.

Compensation Committee
The Company established a Compensation Committee in June 2006, as set out in the Corporate Governance Report on 
pages 37 and 38. The Compensation Committee advises the Board on Group compensation policy and may obtain advice 
from independent remuneration consultants appointed by the Company. The Compensation Committee meets as required 
and executive directors do not vote on their own remuneration or incentives. 

Remuneration policy
The Company’s policy is to maintain levels of compensation for the Group that are comparable and competitive with peer 
group companies, so as to attract and retain individuals of the highest calibre, by rewarding them as appropriate for their 
contribution to the Group’s performance. The Company takes independent advice in structuring remuneration packages 
of directors and employees.

Terms of appointment
The terms of each director’s appointment are set out in their service agreements which are effective for an indefinite 
period but may be terminated in accordance with specified notice periods. Each service agreement sets out details of basic 
salary, fees, benefits-in-kind and share option grants. The directors do not participate in any group pension scheme and 
their remuneration is not pensionable. 

The executive directors are eligible to participate in discretionary bonus arrangements. Bonuses are payable in cash and 
awarded by the Board, upon recommendations by the Compensation Committee. 

Details of directors’ compensation are set out in Table 1.

Basic salaries
The basic salary of each executive director is established by reference to their responsibilities and individual performance. 

Fees
The fees paid to non-executive directors are determined by the Board and reviewed periodically to reflect current rates 
and practice commensurate with the size of the Company and their roles. 

Share options
The Company has granted share options to directors, employees, strategic consultants and advisors to the Group to 
provide incentives for long-term performance and retention. The share options are exercisable over varying periods and at 
varying strike prices. The right to exercise is not contingent upon any performance criteria but is subject to terms relating 
to the respective individual’s continued employment with the Group. 

There have been no variations to the terms and conditions or performance criteria for share options during the year.

The share-based payment expense recognised in the income statement under IFRS 2 that relates to directors’ share 
options amounts to US$2.3 million (2011: US$0.9 million).

Details of directors’ share options are set out in Table 2.
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Annual remuneration of directors
Remuneration paid to the directors in the year to 31 March 2012 was as follows:

Table 1
2012 2011

Salary 
US$

Bonuses 
US$

Fees 
US$

Benefits 
US$

Total 
US$

Total 
US$

J A Jeffs – – 180,000 – 180,000 120,000
R B Holland III – – 180,000 – 180,000 120,000
M B Young 393,750 – – 47,286 441,036 859,6351

L O Kraus, Jr – – 75,000 – 75,000 48,000
D R Belding – – 75,000 – 75,000 48,000
M S Narikbayev – – 125,000 – 125,000 118,250

393,750 – 635,000 47,286 1,076,036 1,313,885

1 	 Included bonus of US$140,000 in respect of the year ended 31 March 2010, approved and paid in May 2010; and bonus of US$225,000 in respect of the year ended 
31 March 2011, approved and paid in March 2011. No bonuses were paid during the year ended 31 March 2012.

Directors’ pension entitlements
The Company contributes to the 401(k) retirement savings plan of Michael B Young. The contributions paid by the 
Company during the year ended 31 March 2012 were US$9,800 (2011: US$9,800).

Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company
The interests of the directors who held office during the year ended 31 March 2012 are given in the Directors’ Report.

There has been no change in the interest of any director between 1 April 2012 and the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT
continued
For the year ended 31 March 2012
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Directors’ interests in share option agreements
The interests of the directors in office during the year to 31 March 2012 were as follows:

Table 2

Grant date

Number 
at start 

of period

Number 
granted

in 
period

Number 
forfeited 
in period

Number 
exercised 
in period

Number at 31 
March 2012

Option 
price 

(pence)
Date 

exercisable Expiry date

Realised 
gains 

US$’000

Potentially 
realisable

gains7

US$’000

J A Jeffs 26.10.05 8,831,1711 – – – 8,831,171 4.758 26.10.063 26.10.15 – 1,129
J A Jeffs 14.12.05 51,0002 – – – 51,000 4.758 26.10.063 26.10.15 – 6
J A Jeffs 06.01.06 1,280,1002 – – – 1,280,100 4.758 26.10.063 26.10.15 – 164
J A Jeffs 29.03.06 119,0002 – – – 119,000 4.758 26.10.063 26.10.15 – 15
J A Jeffs 13.10.09 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 18.75 13.10.105 13.10.16 – –
J A Jeffs 10.03.11 5,000,000 – – – 5,000,000 20.00 10.03.125 10.03.18 – –
R B Holland III 24.03.06 2,500,000 – – – 2,500,000 4.758 24.03.074 24.03.13 – 320
R B Holland III 29.10.07 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 4.758 29.10.076 29.10.14 – 128
R B Holland III 23.02.09 500,000 – – – 500,000 4.75 23.02.105 23.02.16 – 64
R B Holland III 13.10.09 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 18.75 13.10.105 13.10.16 – –
R B Holland III 10.03.11 5,000,000 – – – 5,000,000 20.00 10.03.125 10.03.18 – –
M B Young 27.07.06 1,500,000 – – – 1,500,000 4.758 27.07.074 27.07.13 – 192
M B Young 29.10.07 500,000 – – – 500,000 4.758 29.10.085 29.10.14 – 64
M B Young 23.02.09 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 4.75 23.02.105 23.02.16 – 128
M B Young 13.10.09 2,250,000 – – – 2,250,000 18.75 13.10.105 13.10.16 – –
M B Young 10.03.11 5,000,000 – – – 5,000,000 20.00 10.03.125 10.03.18 – –
L O Kraus, Jr 31.05.07 1,500,000 – – – 1,500,000 4.758 31.05.084 31.05.14 – 192
L O Kraus, Jr 29.10.07 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 4.758 29.10.076 29.10.14 – 128
L O Kraus, Jr 13.10.09 625,000 – – – 625,000 18.75 13.10.105 13.10.16 – –
D R Belding 26.10.05 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 4.758 26.10.064 26.10.12 – 256
D R Belding 13.10.09 500,000 – – – 500,000 18.75 13.10.105 13.10.16 – –
D R Belding 10.03.11 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 20.00 10.03.125 10.03.18 – –
M S Narikbayev 10.10.06 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 4.758 10.10.074 10.10.13 – 256
M S Narikbayev 13.10.09 1,125,000 – – 1,125,000 18.75 13.10.105 13.10.16 – –
M S Narikbayev 10.03.11 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 20.00 10.03.125 10.03.18 – –

51,281,271 – – – 51,281,271 – 3,042

1	 Non-dilutable for initial 12 months; shares under option are increased by 3.4% of any issue of new ordinary shares within 12 months of the date of admission to AIM  
(27 October 2005) (excluding on exercise of options and on any capital reorganisation).

2	 Arising under non-dilution on issue of new ordinary shares.
3	 Exercisable 47.5% on first anniversary of date of grant and 17.5% on second, third and fourth anniversaries of date of grant.
4	 Exercisable 40.0% on first anniversary of date of grant and 20.0% on second, third and fourth anniversaries of date of grant.
5	 Exercisable one third on first anniversary of date of grant and one third on second and third anniversaries of date of grant.
6	 Exercisable one third on date of grant, one third on first anniversary of grant and one third on second anniversary of grant.
7	 Calculated as the difference between the option price and closing market price at 31 March 2012 for those share options exercisable at 31 March 2012. 
8	 Original exercise price changed to 4.75p on 23 February 2009.
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Mid-market prices of the Company’s ordinary 0.01p shares during the year and at the balance sheet date were as follows:

2012 2011

US$ Pence US$ Pence

High 0.29 18.3 0.40 25.0
Low 0.16 9.9 0.15 9.3
Closing 0.20 12.8 0.26 16.0

Approval
This report was approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

David R Belding 
Chairman of the Compensation Committee 
23 August 2012		

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT
continued
For the year ended 31 March 2012
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
For the year ended 31 March 2012

Although Max Petroleum Plc, as an AIM quoted company, is not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance 
Code that was issued in 2010 by the Financial Reporting Council (the “Code”), the Board of Directors are committed 
where practicable to developing and applying high standards of corporate governance appropriate to the Company’s size.

This statement sets out measures taken by the Board to apply the principles of the Code during the year ended 31 March 
2012 and to the date of the Directors’ Report.

Board of Directors
The Board currently comprises three executive directors and three non-executive directors: 

James A Jeffs		  Executive Co-Chairman
Robert B Holland III	 Executive Co-Chairman
Michael B Young		 Executive Director (President and Chief Financial Officer)
Lee O Kraus, Jr 		  Non-executive Director 
David R Belding		  Non-executive Director
Maksut S Narikbayev	 Non-executive Director

Non-executive directors are considered to be independent of management and free from any contractual relationships 
with the Group, thereby allowing them to exercise full independent judgement on any issue. There is a clear division from 
the responsibilities of the executive directors. 

All directors are permitted access to independent professional advice in the course of execution of their duties, at the 
Company’s expense. 

The Board has established the following committees:

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee was appointed in June 2006 and is comprised of four directors: Messrs Holland, Kraus, Belding 
and Jeffs. Mr Holland is the Audit Committee Chairman. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for selecting the Group’s independent auditors, pre-approving all audit and non-audit 
related services, reviewing with management and the independent auditors the Group’s financial statements, significant 
accounting and financial policies and practices, audit scope and adequacy of internal audit and control systems. 

Compensation Committee
The Compensation Committee was also appointed in June 2006 and is comprised of Messrs Belding, Holland and Jeffs. 
Mr Belding is the Compensation Committee Chairman. The Compensation Committee is responsible for determining the 
terms and conditions of service of the executive directors and of senior management of the Group.

The directors’ remuneration report is set out on pages 33 to 36.

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee comprises Messrs Jeffs, Holland, and Young and is responsible for the strategic oversight of the 
Group. 

Advisory Committee
During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Advisory Committee comprised Messrs James C Langdon and Peter B Moss, 
Jr, two independent international advisors with extensive experience in, and knowledge of, the energy sector. 

The role of this committee is to provide financial, operational, geopolitical and technical advice to the Board and to senior 
non-Board officers of the Group.

Nominations Committee
The directors have considered that the Company is not of a size for a nominations committee to be appropriate at the 
current time. The Board will continue to monitor the situation. In the absence of a committee, all appointments are 
decided by the full Board. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
continued
For the year ended 31 March 2012

Board meetings
The Board met three times during the financial year (2011: four times) with the following attendance:

2012 2011

J A Jeffs 3 4
R B Holland III 3 4
M B Young 3 4
L O Kraus, Jr 2 4
D R Belding 2 4
M S Narikbayev 1 2

Investor relations
The Board is committed to provide regular communication with shareholders. During the year ended 31 March 2012, 
Tom C Randell served as Director of Investor Relations.

Internal controls
The Board acknowledges responsibility for maintaining appropriate internal controls systems and procedures to safeguard 
the shareholders’ investments and the assets, employees and business of the Group.

The directors have recognised the changing requirements of the Group as it has developed from private company start-up, 
through re-registration as a public company and admission to trading on AIM, to a growing multi-asset and international 
operating Group. 

The Board has established and operates a policy of continuous review and development of appropriate financial, 
operational, compliance and risk management controls, which cover expenditure approval, authorisation and treasury 
management, together with operating procedures consistent with the accounting policies of the Group. The internal 
control system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can 
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has approved the Group’s current operating and capital budget and performance against budget is monitored 
and reported to the Board on a monthly basis.

The directors confirm that the effectiveness of the internal control system during the accounting period has been reviewed 
by the Board. 

The Board does not consider it appropriate to the current size of the Group to establish an internal audit function.



Max Petroleum Plc 
Annual Report & Accounts 2012 39

We have audited the group and parent company financial 
statements (the ‘‘financial statements’’) of Max Petroleum Plc 
for the year ended 31 March 2012 which comprise the 
Consolidated and Company Income Statements, Consolidated 
and Company Statements of Comprehensive Income, 
Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets, Consolidated and 
Company Statements of Changes in Equity, Consolidated and 
Company Cash Flow Statements, the Accounting Policies and 
the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has 
been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 
adopted by the European Union.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ 
responsibilities set out on page 31, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on 
the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for 
and only for the company’s members as a body in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies 
Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving 
these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any 
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 
is shown or into whose hands it may come save where 
expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 
error. This includes an assessment of: whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and 
parent company’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. In addition, we read all the financial and 
non-financial information in the Annual Report and 
Accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the 
audited financial statements. If we become aware of any 
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we 
consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion the financial statements: 

—— give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and 
parent company’s affairs as at 31 March 2012 and of 
the group’s and parent company’s loss and cash flows 
for the year then ended; 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO 
THE MEMBERS OF MAX PETROLEUM PLC

—— have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs 
as adopted by the European Union; and 
—— have been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies 
Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ 
Report for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion: 

—— adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 
parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received from branches not visited by us; or
—— the parent company financial statements are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 
—— certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified 
by law are not made; or
—— we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

Emphasis of matter
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which 
is not modified, we have considered the adequacy of the 
disclosure made in Note 2 to the financial statements 
concerning the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. While the Group has been involved in ongoing 
efforts to resolve the Group’s outstanding liquidity 
shortfall, there is an uncertainty that the Group will be 
able to continue to borrow funds under the Credit Facility 
and that additional equity or debt financing will be 
available. These circumstances, along with the other 
matters explained in Note 2 to the financial statements 
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may 
cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. The financial statements do not include 
the adjustments that would result if the Group was unable 
to continue as a going concern.

Jason Burkitt (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London 
23 August 2012

The maintenance and integrity of the Max Petroleum Plc website is the responsibility 
of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration 
of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any 
changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially 
presented on the website.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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CONSOLIDATED AND 
COMPANY INCOME STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2012
(in thousands of US$)

Group Company

Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March

Note 2012 2011 2012 2011

Revenue 5 50,243 55,309 2,122 2,519
Cost of sales 6 (33,520) (38,422) (1,928) (2,289)

Gross profit 16,723 16,887 194 230
Exploration and appraisal costs (4,360) (7,007) – –
Impairment losses 7 – – (61) (2,330)
Administrative expenses (17,799) (15,031) (6,467) (5,201)

Operating loss (5,436) (5,151) (6,334) (7,301)
Finance income 8 20 12 356 255
Finance costs 9 (2,672) (12,991) (11,134) (20,894)

Loss before taxation (8,088) (18,130) (17,112) (27,940)
Income tax expense 10 (63) (112) (52) (38)

Loss for the year 11 (8,151) (18,242) (17,164) (27,978)

Loss per share 
– Basic and diluted (US cents) 15 (0.8) (3.8)

The notes on pages 46 to 83 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENTS 
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 March 2012
(in thousands of US$)

Group Company

Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March

2012 2011 2012 2011

Loss for the year (8,151) (18,242) (17,164) (27,978)
Other comprehensive income – – – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year (8,151) (18,242) (17,164) (27,978)

The notes on pages 46 to 83 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Group Company

At 31 March At 31 March

Note 2012 2011 2012 2011

Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets – exploration and appraisal expenditure 16 175,638 147,796 – –
Oil and gas properties 17 65,957 27,518 – –
Property, plant and equipment 18 14,803 10,717 30 62
Investments in subsidiaries 19 – – 130,504 128,402
Trade and other receivables 20 5,488 – – –

261,886 186,031 130,534 128,464
Current assets
Inventories 21 12,659 13,268 – –
Trade and other receivables 20 4,283 7,124 173,825 120,938
Cash and cash equivalents 22 3,631 25,534 1,203 20,674

20,573 45,926 175,028 141,612

Total assets 282,459 231,957 305,562 270,076

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 23 80,872 77,989 80,872 77,989
Provision for liabilities and other charges 27 2,828 1,525 – –

83,700 79,514 80,872 77,989
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 28 32,918 18,102 3,517 3,320
Current tax liabilities – 9,919 – –
Borrowings 23 50,170 6,026 50,170 6,026

83,088 34,047 53,687 9,346

Total liabilities 166,788 113,561 134,559 87,335

Net assets 115,671 118,396 171,003 182,741

Capital and reserves 
Share capital 29 8,035 8,020 8,035 8,020
Share premium 30 364,381 356,598 364,381 356,598
Other reserves 31 112,074 114,446 184,569 186,941
Accumulated deficit (368,819) (360,668) (385,982) (368,818)

Total equity 115,671 118,396 171,003 182,741

The notes on pages 46 to 83 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements of Max Petroleum Plc (registered number 05419021) were approved by the Board of Directors 
and authorised for issue on 23 August 2012. They were signed on its behalf by:

Robert B Holland III		  James A Jeffs			   Michael B Young
Executive Co-Chairman		  Executive Co-Chairman		  President and Chief Financial Officer

CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY  
BALANCE SHEETS
At 31 March 2012
(in thousands of US$)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 March 2012
(in thousands of US$)

Note
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Other 

reserves
Accumulated 

deficit
Total 

equity

Balance at 1 April 2010 7,942 265,043 108,691 (342,426) 39,250

Loss for the year – – – (18,242) (18,242)
Other comprehensive income – – – – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (18,242) (18,242)

Issue of share capital 29, 30 78 91,555 (643) – 90,990
Share-based payment 31 – – 1,961 – 1,961
Convertible bond interest deferral, equity portion 31 – – 412 – 412
Warrants issued 31 – – 4,025 – 4,025

78 91,555 5,755 – 97,388

Balance at 31 March 2011 8,020 356,598 114,446 (360,668) 118,396

Loss for the year – – – (8,151) (8,151)
Other comprehensive income – – – – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (8,151) (8,151)

Issue of share capital 29, 30 15 7,783 (7,340) – 458
Share-based payment 31 – – 4,968 – 4,968

15 7,783 (2,372) – 5,426

Balance at 31 March 2012 8,035 364,381 112,074 (368,819) 115,671

The notes on pages 46 to 83 are an integral part of these financial statements.

No interim or final dividend has been paid or proposed during the year.



Max Petroleum Plc 
Annual Report & Accounts 201244

Note
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Other 

reserves
Accumulated 

deficit
Total 

equity

Balance at 1 April 2010 7,942 265,043 181,186 (340,840) 113,331

Loss for the year – – – (27,978) (27,978)
Other comprehensive income – – – – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (27,978) (27,978)

Issue of share capital 29, 30 78 91,555 (643) – 90,990
Share-based payment 31 – – 1,961 – 1,961
Convertible bond interest deferral, equity portion 31 – – 412 – 412
Warrants issued 31 – – 4,025 – 4,025

78 91,555 5,755 – 97,388

Balance at 31 March 2011 8,020 356,598 186,941 (368,818) 182,741

Loss for the year – – – (17,164) (17,164)
Other comprehensive income – – – – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (17,164) (17,164)

Issue of share capital 29, 30 15 7,783 (7,340) – 458
Share-based payment 31 – – 4,968 – 4,968

15 7,783 (2,372) – 5,426

Balance at 31 March 2012 8,035 364,381 184,569 (385,982) 171,003

The notes on pages 46 to 83 are an integral part of these financial statements.

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES 
IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 March 2012
(in thousands of US$)
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CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY 
CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2012
(in thousands of US$)

Group Company

Note 2012 2011 2012 2011

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 33 28,273 16,668 (55,782) (10,131)
Income tax paid (9,661) (2,291) – –

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 18,612 14,377 (55,782) (10,131)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (5,822) (268) (33) –
Payment for exploration and appraisal expenditure and oil and  

gas properties (67,034) (22,721) – –
Disposal of subsidiary 19 – 2,000 – –
Interest received 20 12 12 2

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (72,836) (20,977) (21) 2

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 29, 30 458 81,166 458 81,166
Settlement of forward contract – (469) – (469)
Proceeds from borrowings 23 44,144 12,272 44,144 12,272
Repayment of borrowings 23 – (55,000) – (55,000)
Interest paid (12,224) (9,657) (8,251) (8,607)

Net cash generated from financing activities 32,378 28,312 36,351 29,362

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (21,846) 21,712 (19,452) 19,233
Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (57) 16 (19) 14
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 22 25,534 3,806 20,674 1,427

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 22 3,631 25,534 1,203 20,674

The notes on pages 46 to 83 are an integral part of these financial statements.

See note 33 for major non-cash transactions. 
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1. General information
Max Petroleum Plc (“Max Petroleum” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) is in the business of 
exploration, development and production of oil and gas assets within the Republic of Kazakhstan. The Group owns the 
exploration and production rights to the Blocks A&E Licence (the “Licence”), which comprises two onshore blocks 
extending over 12,455 km2 in the Pre-Caspian Basin in Western Kazakhstan. The nature of the Group’s operations and 
principal activities is discussed further in the Business Review on pages 6 to 15.

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom and quoted on AIM.  
The address of its registered office is Second Floor, 81 Piccadilly, London, W1J 8HY, United Kingdom.

2. Basis of preparation
Basis of accounting
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU), IFRIC Interpretations and the Companies Act 2006 
applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period, assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements. The key estimates and assumptions are set out in 
the critical accounting estimates and judgements in note 4. Such estimates and assumptions are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable in the circumstances and constitute management’s 
best judgement at the date of the financial statements. In the future, actual experience may deviate from these estimates 
and assumptions. This could affect future financial statements as the original estimates and assumptions are modified, as 
appropriate, in the year in which the circumstances change. 

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current year.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based on the fair 
value of the consideration given in exchange for the asset. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the 
Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 March each year. Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Company has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the 
voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are 
considered when assessing whether the Company controls another entity. 

A list of the subsidiaries has been included in note 19.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements 
from the effective date of the acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, 
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those 
used by the Group. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Going concern
At the date of this report, there is a combination of circumstances which results in the existence of a material uncertainty 
that may cast a significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The combination of 
circumstances giving rise to the material uncertainty is discussed in the Directors’ Report on pages 28 and 29. After 
making enquiries and considering the circumstances discussed on pages 28 and 29, the directors have, at the time of 
approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Company and Group will have adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting in preparing the financial statements.

notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2012
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3.1 Adoption of new and revised standards
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are consistent with those followed in the 
preparation of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011, except for the adoption of the following 
standards and amendments:

—— Amendment to IFRS 1 Limited Exemption from Comparative IFRS 7 Disclosures for First-Time Adopters
—— IAS 24 (revised November 2009) Related Party Disclosures
—— Amendments to IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement
—— IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments
—— Improvements to IFRSs (2010)

The adoption of the above new and revised standards has had no effect on the reported financial results or the disclosures 
in these financial statements, but may impact the accounting for future transactions and arrangements. 

For the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group early adopted the Companies (Disclosure of Auditor Remuneration and 
Liability Limitation Agreements) Regulations 2011 (Statutory Instrument 2011/2198). This amended the list of categories 
used to disclose auditors’ remuneration (note 14). Comparative disclosures for the year ended 31 March 2011 were 
adjusted to conform with this change in presentation.

Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet adopted
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements the following Standards and Interpretations which have not been 
applied in these financial statements were in issue but not yet effective (and in some cases had not been endorsed by the 
European Union):

—— Amendments to IFRS 1	 Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-Time Adopters 
—— Amendments to IFRS 7	 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Transfers of Financial Assets)
—— Amendments to IFRS 7	� Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 

Liabilities)
—— IFRS 9 	 Financial Instruments
—— IFRS 10	 Consolidated Financial Statements
—— IFRS 11	 Joint Arrangements
—— IFRS 12	 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
—— IFRS 13	 Fair Value Measurement
—— Amendments to IAS 1	� Presentation of Financial Statements (Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive 

Income)
—— Amendments to IAS 12	 Income Taxes (Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets) 
—— Amendments to IAS 32	� Financial Instruments: Presentation (Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 

Liabilities)
—— IAS 19 (revised June 2011)	 Employee Benefits
—— IAS 27 (revised May 2011)	 Separate Financial Statements
—— IAS 28 (revised May 2011)	 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
—— IFRIC 20	 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine
—— Improvements to IFRSs (2011)

The assessment of the impact of the above Standards and Interpretations on the Group’s accounting policies and on the 
presentation of the financial statements is at an early stage but there is not expected to be a significant impact on the 
financial statements of the Group in future periods, except for the adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments which, 
depending on future transactions and arrangements, could potentially impact the measurement and disclosure of financial 
instruments.

3.2 Significant accounting policies
Business combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each 
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or 
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs 
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.



Max Petroleum Plc 
Annual Report & Accounts 201248

3.2 Significant accounting policies continued
Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition 
date). Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest (if any) in the entity over the net of the 
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain 
purchase gain.

Intangible assets – exploration and appraisal expenditure
The Group follows the modified successful efforts method of accounting under which all licence acquisition, geological 
and geophysical (“G&G”) exploration and appraisal costs are initially capitalised to well, field or specific exploration 
licences as appropriate, pending determination of the existence of commercial reserves. The costs of licence acquisitions 
and G&G exploration and appraisal costs are amortised straight-line over a period of the lower of 25 years, the 
remaining licence period or the expected life of the reserves from the date the seismic data has been fully evaluated. In line 
with IFRS 6, any pre-acquisition licence costs are directly expensed to the income statement.

Expenditures incurred during the various exploration and appraisal phases are then written off unless probable 
(“commercial”) reserves have been established or the determination process has not been completed. Drilling expenditure 
and directly attributable operational overheads associated with an exploratory dry hole are expensed immediately if 
commercially viable quantities of hydrocarbons are not found.

When an oil or gas field has been approved for development, the accumulated exploration and appraisal costs are 
transferred to oil and gas properties.

Oil and gas properties
Development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated depletion and amortisation and any impairment in value. 

The cost of oil and gas properties is amortised over the total estimated reserves using a unit-of-production method. 
The unit-of-production rate takes into account expenditure incurred to date, together with estimated future development 
expenditure required to develop the underlying proved and commercial reserves. Costs are amortised only once commercial 
reserves associated with a development project can be determined and commercial production has commenced.

Changes in factors such as estimates of proved and commercial reserves that affect unit-of-production calculations do not 
give rise to prior year financial period adjustments and are dealt with on a prospective basis. 

Foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the closing rate 
at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items are measured at the exchange rate in effect at the historical transaction 
date and are not translated at each balance sheet date. Income statement items are translated at their historical exchange 
rate. Translation gains and losses are recorded in administrative expenses for the year. Items included in the financial 
statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the entity operates (the “Functional Currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in “US dollars” 
(“US$”), which is also the Functional Currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The average and year-end historical exchange rates between the US dollar and other currencies in which the Group has 
transacted were:

2012 2011

Average 
rate

Closing 
rate

Average 
rate

Closing 
rate

British pounds (“GBP”) 1.60 1.60 1.56 1.60
Kazakh tenge (“KZT”) 147.05 147.77 147.01 145.70

notes to the financial statements 
continued
For the year ended 31 March 2012
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3.2 Significant accounting policies continued
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated in the balance sheet at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any provision 
for impairment.

The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost and any costs directly attributable to bringing 
the asset into operation. The purchase price or construction cost is the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any 
other consideration given to acquire the asset. 

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis at rates sufficient to write off the cost, less estimated 
residual values, of individual assets over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Improvements to leasehold property	 2–10 years (or over the remaining life of the lease if shorter)
Office systems, equipment and furniture	 3–10 years	
Plant and equipment			   5–10 years	
Motor vehicles				    5 years	

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Inventories
Crude oil inventories are stated at the lower of production cost and net realisable value. Materials and supplies inventories 
are valued on a first-in, first-out basis at the lower of cost or estimated net realisable value. Net realisable value represents 
the estimated selling price less costs to be incurred in marketing, selling, and distribution.

Impairment – exploration and appraisal expenditure
Exploration and appraisal costs are tested for impairment when reclassified to oil and gas properties or whenever facts 
and circumstances indicate potential impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
exploration and appraisal expenditure’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of the exploration and appraisal expenditure’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the purposes of 
assessing impairment, the exploration and appraisal expenditure subject to testing is grouped with existing cash-
generating units of production fields that are located in the same geographical region.

Impairment – oil and gas properties
Proven oil and gas properties are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, oil and gas properties are evaluated on a field by field basis.

Impairment – property, plant and equipment
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amount of its property, plant and equipment to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does 
not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Decommissioning provision
Provision is made for the present value of the future cost of abandonment of oil and gas wells and related facilities. This 
provision is recognised when the asset is installed. The estimated costs, based on engineering cost levels prevailing at the 
balance sheet date, are computed on the basis of the latest assumptions as to the scope and method of abandonment. The 
corresponding amount is capitalised as part of exploration and appraisal expenditure or oil and gas properties and is 
amortised on a unit-of-production basis as part of the depreciation, depletion and amortisation charge. 

The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is treated as a component of finance costs.

Any adjustments to the provision arising from reassessment of the estimated cost of decommissioning are added to, or 
deducted from the cost of the related asset in the current period. If a decrease in the liability exceeds the carrying amount 
of the asset, the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
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3.2 Significant accounting policies continued
Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and services in the 
ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and 
after eliminating sales within the Group.

Revenue is recognised when the amount can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to 
the entity, and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as described below. The amount of 
revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. The 
Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and 
the specifics of each arrangement.

Revenues from crude oil and natural gas sales are recognised when the oil and gas has been lifted and the risk of loss 
transferred to a third-party purchaser. The Group uses the entitlement method to account for its revenue from sales of oil 
and gas production, whereby the Group recognises revenue based on its direct ownership interest in its underlying oil and 
gas properties. 

Taxation 
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is  
subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to  
the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax basis of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the Group and Company financial statements. However, deferred income 
tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business 
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is 
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the timing 
of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s balance sheet at cost less any provisions for impairment.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Effective interest rate method
The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or liability and 
allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the applicable discount rate for 
the estimated future cash receipts or payments over the expected life of the financial asset or liability.

Financial assets 
Financial assets are classified into the following categories: financial assets “at fair value through profit or loss” 
(“FVTPL”), “held-to-maturity” investments, “available-for-sale” (“AFS”) financial assets and “loans and receivables”. 
The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

notes to the financial statements 
continued
For the year ended 31 March 2012
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3.2 Significant accounting policies continued
(a) Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables, which are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, are classified as loans and receivables. They are 
included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date, which are 
classified as non-current assets. 

Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently carried at their amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method, net of any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest 
rate method, except for short-term receivables where the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

(b) Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets are assessed for impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired when there is 
objective evidence that the estimated future cash flows of the asset have been impacted. For loans and receivables, the 
amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

In the event of an impairment, the carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss, except for 
trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade 
receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account, and the amount of loss is recognised in the 
income statement. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the income statement.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, current balances and deposits with banks and similar institutions, 
which are readily convertible to cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements 
entered into.

(a) Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of 
its liabilities. Equity instruments of the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of new shares or options, which are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds. Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

(b) Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term 
payables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

(c) Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value net of transaction costs incurred, including debt issuance costs in the 
form of cash payments and the fair value of warrants issued to, and exercisable by, the lender. Residual costs 
associated with warrants issued in conjunction with credit facilities which are not allocated against the fair value of 
borrowings on initial recognition are expensed immediately. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; 
any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised over the term of 
the borrowings using the effective interest rate method and charged to the income statement as finance costs.

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is 
required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. Other borrowing costs are expensed. To the extent 
that the Group borrows funds generally and uses them for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the Group 
determines the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation by applying a capitalisation rate to the 
expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the 
borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the 
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. The amount of borrowing costs that the Group capitalises during a period 
shall not exceed the amount of borrowing costs it incurred during that period.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies continued
For funds borrowed to obtain a qualifying asset, the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation are the actual 
borrowing costs incurred during the period less any investment income earned from the temporary investment of the 
borrowed funds. 

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or 
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as 
derecognition of the original liability and recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the carrying 
amounts of the original liability and the fair value of the new liability is recognised in the income statement.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Compound instruments
The component parts of compound instruments issued by the Group are classified separately as financial liabilities and 
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. 

The Group records the proceeds received from the issuance of convertible debt instruments, net of issuance costs, as an 
allocation between long-term debt and equity based on the Group’s estimate of the fair value of the instrument without 
consideration of its conversion feature. At the date of issue of the convertible debt instrument, the fair value of the liability 
component is estimated using the prevailing interest rate for a similar non-convertible instrument. This amount is 
recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis using the effective interest method until extinguished on conversion or at 
the instrument’s maturity date. The equity component is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component 
from the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax 
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured.

Operating leases
Rentals under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant leases.

Share-based payment
The Company operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan. The fair value of the employee services received 
in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting 
period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting 
conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included in 
assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest, and at each balance sheet date, the entity revises its 
estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, 
if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. If the terms and conditions of options are 
modified, the change in the fair value of the options, measured immediately before and after the modification, is 
additionally charged to the income statement over the remaining vesting period.

When the options are exercised, the nominal value of the underlying shares is credited to share capital, and the excess of 
the proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the 
Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant 
date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a 
corresponding credit to equity.

Pension obligations
The Group makes contributions to the 401(k) retirement savings plans of certain of its US based employees and directors. 
The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as 
employee benefit expense when they are due.

The Group does not incur any expenses in relation to pensions for its employees in other countries. In accordance with 
the legal requirements of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the Group withholds pension contributions from employee salaries 
and transfers them into third party state or private pension funds at the direction of the employee. The Group is not 
responsible for the administration of the pension funds or future distributions to the employees.

notes to the financial statements 
continued
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4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. Such estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Estimation of oil and gas reserves
Proved oil and gas reserves are the estimated quantities of oil and gas which geological and engineering data demonstrate 
with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating 
conditions. Estimates of oil and gas reserves are inherently imprecise, require the application of judgement and are subject 
to future revision. Accordingly, financial and accounting measures (such as the standardised measure of discounted cash 
flows, depreciation, depletion and amortisation charges, and decommissioning provisions) that are based on proved 
reserves are also subject to change. Refer to page 85 of the glossary for further information on probabilities associated 
with proved, probable and possible reserves. 

Capitalised exploration and appraisal expenditure
In making decisions about whether to continue to capitalise exploration and appraisal expenditure, it is necessary to make 
judgements about the probable commercial reserves and the level of activities that constitute ongoing appraisal 
determination. If there is a change in any judgement in a subsequent period, then the related capitalised exploration and 
appraisal expenditure would be expensed in that period, resulting in a charge to income. 

Provision for abandonment
Estimates of the amounts of provision for abandonment recognised are based on current legal and constructive 
requirements, technology and price levels. As actual outflows may be different from estimates due to changes in laws, 
regulations, technology, prices and conditions, and can take place in the future, the carrying amounts of provisions are 
regularly reviewed and adjusted to take account of such changes.

5. Operating segments
Management has determined its operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the directors for the purposes of 
making decisions about allocating resources and assessing performance. In the opinion of the directors, the operations of 
the Group comprise one operating segment: oil and gas exploration and development and related activities. All of the 
Group’s assets and liabilities, income and expense relate to this segment. 

Geographical information
The Group conducts business within three geographical regions. The Group’s operational activities are wholly focused in 
the Republic of Kazakhstan, supported by a technical team in Houston, USA. The Group’s head office is in London, 
United Kingdom.

Revenue
All of the Group’s revenue from external customers is derived from its operations in the Republic of Kazakhstan, as follows:

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Republic of Kazakhstan – domestic sales 44,227 5,658
Republic of Kazakhstan – export sales 6,016 49,651

50,243 55,309

Included in revenues arising from sales from the Republic of Kazakhstan are revenues of US$30.5 million which arose 
from the Group’s largest customer (2011: sales to Group’s largest customer of US$49.7 million).
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5. Operating segments continued
Non-current assets
The Group’s non-current assets by geographical location are as follows:

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

United Kingdom 30 62
USA 57 151
Republic of Kazakhstan 261,799 185,818

261,886 186,031

6. Cost of sales
Group

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Production costs 8,248 5,804
Selling and transportation 6,379 5,441
Mineral extraction tax 1,203 2,768
Export customs duty/export rent tax 1,629 10,678
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation 16,061 13,731

33,520 38,422

The cost of crude oil inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales amounted to US$18.7 million 
(2011: US$16.1 million).

7. Impairment losses
Group Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Impairment of loans from the Company to its subsidiaries (note 20) – – 60 2,328
Impairment of other amounts due from subsidiaries (note 20) – – 1 2

– – 61 2,330

8. Finance income 
Group Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Interest income on short-term bank deposits 9 12 – 2
Other interest income 11 – 11 –
Intercompany interest income – – 345 253

Finance income 20 12 356 255

9. Finance costs
Group Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Interest expense:
Interest payable on bank borrowings (note 23) 2,473 5,719 2,473 5,719
Interest payable on convertible bond (note 23) 8,660 14,706 8,660 14,706

Unwinding of discount on decommissioning provision (note 27) 134 126 – –
Other finance costs 396 2,234 1 469

11,663 22,785 11,134 20,894
Less:

Interest expense capitalised to exploration and appraisal expenditure (8,991) (9,794) – –

Finance costs 2,672 12,991 11,134 20,894

notes to the financial statements 
continued
For the year ended 31 March 2012
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9. Finance costs continued
Interest payable on the Bonds for the year ended 31 March 2011 included US$4.0 million in relation to the fair value of 
the warrant exercisable into 30 million ordinary shares which vested as a result of the Company’s election to defer 
convertible bond cash interest due on 8 September 2010 (see note 31). 

Other finance costs include interest of US$0.3 million (2011: US$1.6 million) payable to the tax authorities of the 
Republic of Kazakhstan in relation to the Tax Claim brought against the Group (see note 10). Other finance costs for the 
year ended 31 March 2011 also included a loss on settlement of a forward foreign exchange contract of US$0.5 million.

Interest expense of US$9.0 million (2011: US$9.8 million) arising on the general borrowing pool during the year was 
capitalised in the cost of qualifying assets, calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of 11% (2011: 15%) to the average 
cumulative expenditure on such assets. The borrowing costs capitalised are included in “additions” to intangible assets 
– exploration and appraisal expenditure. 

10. Income tax expense
Group Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Current tax:
Current tax on profits for the year 52 112 52 38
Adjustments in respect of prior years 11 – – –

Total current tax 63 112 52 38
Deferred tax (note 26) – – – –

Income tax expense 63 112 52 38

The Group’s principal business activities are in the Republic of Kazakhstan, where corporate income tax (“CIT”) applies 
at a rate of 20% of taxable income. Taxes on the production and sale of hydrocarbons are accounted for as cost of sales 
(see note 6). The Group and Company have generated recurring net operating losses and no deferred tax assets have been 
recognised with respect to such losses.

The tax on the Group’s loss before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the UK statutory rate of 
26% (2011: 28%) applicable to the loss of the Group, as follows:

Group

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Loss before taxation (8,088) (18,130)

Tax calculated at 26% (2011: 28%) (2,103) (5,076)
Effect of lower foreign tax rates (850) (260)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes/non-taxable income 2,209 592
Adjustments in respect of prior years 11 –
Temporary differences not recognised 796 4,856

Income tax expense 63 112

The tax on the Company’s loss before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the UK statutory 
rate of 26% (2011: 28%) applicable to the loss of the Company, as follows:

Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Loss before taxation (17,112) (27,940)

Tax calculated at 26% (2011: 28%) (4,449) (7,823)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes/non-taxable income 877 1,244
Temporary differences not recognised 3,624 6,617

Income tax expense 52 38
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10. Income tax expense continued
Tax Claim
During the year ended 31 March 2012 the Group paid US$13.8 million in full settlement of a tax claim brought against 
the Group by the local tax authorities of the Republic of Kazakhstan (the “Tax Claim”). 

The Tax Claim resulted from a routine tax audit of the Group’s entities in Kazakhstan for calendar years 2005 to 2008 
and involved a dispute over the timing of recovery (i.e. depreciation) of the Group’s costs capitalised to its oil and gas 
properties for tax years prior to Kazakhstan’s adoption of the new Tax Code in 2009. In summary, the Group began 
depreciating its capitalised costs when it began producing crude oil in accordance with the terms of its subsoil use licence 
and the Kazakh legislation in place at the time the Licence was executed. The local tax authorities, however, asserted that 
the Group should only begin depreciating its capital costs upon the formal declaration of a commercial discovery to the 
Kazakh authorities. As a result, the local tax authorities disallowed a total of US$35 million in depreciation deductions 
taken by the Group during calendar years 2006 through 2008.

Including amounts paid in previous years towards the Tax Claim, in aggregate US$18.8 million has been settled, 
comprising US$9.9 million of income taxes, penalties of US$4.9 million and interest of US$4.0 million.

The Group had previously fully provided for the Tax Claim in the financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2011 
and 31 March 2010. 

The final legal appeal to review the Tax Claim was rejected by the Supervisory Panel of the Supreme Court of the Republic 
of Kazakhstan during the current year. The Group expects to recover the majority of the economic value of the Tax Claim 
through subsequent depreciation deductions that will offset future taxable income.

11. Loss for the year
Loss for the year is stated after charging:

Group Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Exchange loss 70 720 21 494
Staff costs, net of capitalisation 7,496 8,057 1,180 1,613
Operating lease rentals (note 35) 2,291 1,589 247 250
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation (note 12) 16,520 14,306 65 108
Impairment losses (note 7) – – 61 2,330
Exploration and appraisal costs 4,360 7,007 – –
Share-based payments, net of capitalisation 4,898 1,842 2,866 1,213
Auditors’ remuneration (note 14) 506 645 299 391

Exploration and appraisal costs for the year ended 31 March 2011 are presented net of US$2.0 million proceeds from the 
disposal of Alga Caspiygas LLP (see note 19).

12. Depreciation, depletion and amortisation
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation are included within the following headings within the income statement:

Group

2012  2011

Intangible 
assets – 

exploration 
and appraisal 

expenditure 
US$’000

Oil and gas 
properties 
US$’000

Property, 
plant and 

equipment 
US$’000

Total 
US$’000

Intangible 
assets – 

exploration 
and appraisal 

expenditure 
US$’000

Oil and gas 
properties 

US$’000

Property, 
plant and 

equipment 
US$’000

Total 
US$’000

Cost of sales 6,830 7,814 1,417 16,061 6,204 6,457 1,070 13,731
Administrative expenses 41 – 418 459 30 – 545 575

Total 6,871 7,814 1,835 16,520 6,234 6,457 1,615 14,306

A portion of depreciation, depletion and amortisation is also included in crude oil inventory valuation at each balance 
sheet date.

notes to the financial statements 
continued
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12. Depreciation, depletion and amortisation continued

Company

2012 
Property, 
plant and 

equipment 
US$’000

2011 
Property, 
plant and 

equipment 
US$’000

Administrative expenses 65 108

13. Employees and key management
The monthly average number of staff employed during the financial year was as follows:

Group Company

2012 
Number

2011 
Number

2012 
Number

2011 
Number

Administrative 68 71 5 6
Exploration and production operations 87 78 – –
Directors 6 6 6 6

161 155 11 12

Staff costs in respect of those directors and employees were as follows:

Group Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Wages and salaries 11,862 12,385 1,119 1,495
Social security 1,144 1,209 61 114
Pension costs – defined contribution plans 52 54 – 5
Share options granted to directors and employees 4,968 1,961 2,866 1,213

18,026 15,609 4,046 2,827

Wages and salaries include the cost of tax gross-up for expatriate employees whose contracts provide for them to receive 
salaries without deduction of local taxes. A proportion of the Group’s staff costs shown above is capitalised under the 
Group’s accounting policy for exploration and appraisal expenditure and oil and gas properties.

Key management compensation 
Key management personnel, as defined by IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”, have been identified as the Board of 
Directors. Detailed disclosures of directors’ individual remuneration, directors’ transactions and directors’ interests and 
share options, for those directors who served during the year, are given in the Directors’ Remuneration Report. The 
aggregate amounts of directors’ remuneration during the year were as follows:

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Salaries and short-term employee benefits 1,076 1,314
Post-employment benefits 10 10
Share-based payment 2,298 918

3,384 2,242

None of the Company’s directors exercised share options while serving in their capacity as directors during the years 
ended 31 March 2012 and 2011, respectively. 
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14. Auditors’ remuneration
During the year the Group (including its subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Company’s auditors and 
their associates at costs as detailed below:

Group

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and their associates for the audit of the Company’s annual 
financial statements: 307 336

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and their associates for other services to the Group:
– The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 44 106
– Audit-related assurance services1 117 123
– Taxation compliance services 34 26
– Other taxation advisory services – 33
– Other assurance services – 21
– Other services 4 –

Total 506 645

1	 Includes interim review.

15. Loss per share 
Group

2012 2011

Loss attributable to owners of the Company (US$’000) (8,151) (18,242)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 969,447 484,236
Basic and diluted loss per share (US cents) (0.8) (3.8)

Basic loss per share
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share
Diluted loss per share is calculated using the loss for the year divided by the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding assuming the conversion of its potentially dilutive equity derivatives outstanding, being share options, 
warrants and convertible debt. All of the Group’s equity derivatives were anti-dilutive for the years ended 31 March 2012 
and 2011, respectively.

notes to the financial statements 
continued
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16. Intangible assets – exploration and appraisal expenditure
Group

Total 
US$’000

Cost
At 1 April 2010 262,087
Additions 29,508
Disposals (115,136)
Amounts written off to exploration and appraisal costs (8,997)
Change in estimate for decommissioning provision (23)

At 31 March 2011 167,439
Additions 70,327
Disposals –
Amounts written off to exploration and appraisal costs (4,360)
Transfers to oil and gas properties (31,156)
Transfers to property, plant and equipment (786)
Change in estimate for decommissioning provision 623

At 31 March 2012 202,087

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 April 2010 128,598
Amortisation charge for the year 6,234
Disposals (115,189)

At 31 March 2011 19,643
Amortisation charge for the year 6,871
Disposals (3)
Transfers to oil and gas properties (62)

At 31 March 2012 26,449

Net book value

At 31 March 2011 147,796

At 31 March 2012 175,638

Included within exploration and appraisal expenditures at 31 March 2012 was a decommissioning asset of US$0.4 million 
(2011: US$0.2 million). At 31 March 2012, the Group had entered into contractual commitments for the acquisition of 
intangible assets amounting to US$1.4 million (2011: US$1.8 million).

In assessing whether there were any indicators of impairment for intangible exploration and appraisal expenditure, 
management considered the carrying value of the assets compared to their expected recoverable amounts. The assessment for 
Blocks A&E was based on an estimate of the value of the estimated mean risked resources in the Licence area. While this 
estimate is very uncertain due to the risks inherent to oil and gas exploration, management of the Company is comfortable 
that the fair value of the Group’s Blocks A&E exploration assets significantly exceeds its book value.

The net book value of exploration and appraisal expenditure at 31 March 2012 includes US$27.0 million directly relating to 
the NUR-1 pre-salt well (2011: US$0.3 million). The Group suspended drilling of NUR-1 and released the rig in July 2012, 
see note 37.

Astrakhanskiy Licence
In January 2011, the Group relinquished control of the Astrakhanskiy Licence to the Ministry of Oil and Gas of the 
Republic of Kazakhstan after failing to comply with the work obligations stipulated under the licence and therefore, 
recorded a disposal of the related assets during the year ended 31 March 2011. The Group had previously recorded a 
charge of US$116.2 million to impair the related assets to US$nil during the year ended 31 March 2010, including 
US$115.1 million classified as exploration and appraisal assets.
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17. Oil and gas properties
Group

Total 
US$’000

Cost
At 1 April 2010 37,814
Additions 7,887
Change in estimate for decommissioning provision (129)

At 31 March 2011 45,572
Additions 14,713
Transfers from exploration and appraisal expenditure 31,156
Change in estimate for decommissioning provision 546

At 31 March 2012 91,987

Accumulated depletion and amortisation
At 1 April 2010 11,642
Charge for the year 6,412

At 31 March 2011 18,054
Charge for the year 7,914
Transfers from exploration and appraisal expenditure 62

At 31 March 2012 26,030

Net book value

At 31 March 2011 27,518

At 31 March 2012 65,957

Included within oil and gas properties at 31 March 2012 was a decommissioning asset of US$1.1 million 
(2011: US$0.2 million).

In assessing whether there were any indicators of impairment for oil and gas producing assets and associated property, 
plant and equipment (notes 17 and 18) at 31 March 2012, management considered the carrying value of the assets compared 
to their expected recoverable amounts. The expected recoverable amounts for the Group’s producing fields were based on the 
competent person’s report at 31 March 2012. The results of the comparison indicate that the discounted future net 
income from extracting the Group’s proved and probable reserves significantly exceed the book value of the assets.

In estimating the expected recoverable amount of its producing fields, forecast production rates were based on historical 
performance from wells now on production. Test data and other related information were used to estimate the anticipated 
initial production rates for those wells or locations that are not currently producing. An estimated rate of decline was  
then applied to the depletion of reserves. The revenue assumptions depend on the anticipated full field development date 
for each field. Prior to full field development, all production is sold domestically within Kazakhstan and once full field 
development has been achieved, 80% of production is allocated to international sales and 20% to domestic sales.  
The international sales price is based on a Brent crude futures strip covering the period to 2033, where prices per barrel 
range from US$94 to US$123. The domestic sales price estimates commence at US$53/bbl in 2012 and are escalated at 
2% annually. The discount rate used was 10%. 

notes to the financial statements 
continued
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18. Property, plant and equipment
Group

Improvements 
to leasehold 

property 
US$’000

Office 
systems, 

equipment 
and furniture 

US$’000

Plant and 
equipment 

US$’000

Motor 
vehicles 

US$’000
Total 

US$’000

Cost
At 1 April 2010 422 2,067 12,704 917 16,110
Additions – 27 239 2 268

At 31 March 2011 422 2,094 12,943 919 16,378
Additions – 54 4,810 305 5,169
Transfers from exploration and appraisal expenditure – – 786 – 786
Disposals – (75) – – (75)

At 31 March 2012 422 2,073 18,539 1,224 22,258

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2010 271 1,087 2,270 431 4,059
Charge for the year 94 349 979 180 1,602

At 31 March 2011 365 1,436 3,249 611 5,661
Charge for the year 57 249 1,367 196 1,869
Disposals – (75) – – (75)

At 31 March 2012 422 1,610 4,616 807 7,455

Net book value

At 31 March 2011 57 658 9,694 308 10,717

At 31 March 2012 – 463 13,923 417 14,803

At 31 March 2012, the Group had entered into contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment amounting to US$1.0 million (2011: US$1.2 million).
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18. Property, plant and equipment continued
Company

Improvements  
to leasehold  

property 
US$’000

Office 
systems, 

equipment 
and furniture 

US$’000
Total 

US$’000

Cost
At 1 April 2010 422 164 586
Additions – – –

At 31 March 2011 422 164 586
Additions – 33 33
Disposals – (75) (75)

At 31 March 2012 422 122 544

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2010 271 145 416
Charge for the year 94 14 108

At 31 March 2011 365 159 524
Charge for the year 57 8 65
Disposals – (75) (75)

At 31 March 2012 422 92 514

Net book value

At 31 March 2011 57 5 62

At 31 March 2012 – 30 30

19. Investments in subsidiaries
Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Cost
At 1 April 207,679 206,931
Capital contribution to subsidiaries related to share-based payment 2,102 748

At 31 March 209,781 207,679

Provision for impairment
At 1 April (79,277) (79,277)
Impairment loss for the year (note 7) – –

At 31 March (79,277) (79,277)

Net book value at 31 March 130,504 128,402

The directors believe that the carrying value of the investments is supported by the value of the underlying net assets.

notes to the financial statements 
continued
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19. Investments in subsidiaries continued
The following summarises the Company’s participation in the Group structure:
 

Subsidiary undertakings Country of incorporation
Effective 
holding

Proportion of 
voting rights 

held Nature of business Statutory year-end

Samek International LLP Kazakhstan 100%1 100% Operating company 31 December
Max Exploration Services, Inc. USA 100% 100% Operating company 31 December
Madiran Investment B.V. Netherlands 100% 100% Holding company 31 December
Max Astrakhanskiy Holdings B.V. Netherlands 100%1 100% Holding company 31 March
Max Petroleum Holdings B.V. Netherlands 100% 100% Holding company 31 March
Cooperative Samek U.A. Netherlands 100%1 100% Cooperative 31 December
Cooperative Alga U.A. Netherlands 100%1 100% Cooperative 31 December
Max Petroleum Astrakhanskiy  

Holding Ltd British Virgin Islands 100% 100% Holding company 31 March
Vasse Investments Ltd British Virgin Islands 100%1 100% Holding company 31 March

1	 Indirect shareholding of Parent Company.

The results of the above subsidiaries have all been included in the consolidated financial statements. The Company’s 
foreign subsidiaries have calendar year-ends for local statutory reporting purposes only. 

The Company disposed of its indirectly held subsidiary Alga Caspiygas LLP on 27 January 2011 for cash consideration of 
US$2.0 million. A gain of US$2.0 million arose on disposal, being the proceeds of disposal less the carrying amount of 
the subsidiary’s net assets, and was included in the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 March 2011 
within exploration and appraisal costs. 

20. Trade and other receivables
Group Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Trade receivables – 1,460 – –
Advances to suppliers 1,297 1,543 – –
Other prepayments 653 518 180 203
Loans from the Company to its subsidiaries1 (note 34) – – 169,624 116,935
Other amounts due from subsidiaries (note 34) – – 3,745 3,381
Other receivables 7,821 3,603 276 419

9,771 7,124 173,825 120,938

Non-current portion (5,488) – – –

Current portion 4,283 7,124 173,825 120,938

1 	 Loans from the Company to its subsidiaries are repayable on demand. The loans are non-interest bearing, except for a loan of US$45.5 million (2011: US$40.2 million) 
which bears interest at the rate of two times LIBOR (US$ 90 day).

Group
Other receivables include recoverable Kazakh VAT of US$7.2 million (2011: US$2.7 million). 



Max Petroleum Plc 
Annual Report & Accounts 201264

20. Trade and other receivables continued
Impairment losses
The movements in the Group and Company provisions for impairment of trade and other receivables were as follows:

Group Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Balance at the beginning of the year – 1,064 147 38,104
Impairment losses recognised – – 61 2,330
Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible – – – (40,287)
Disposal of subsidiary – (1,064) – –

Balance at the end of the year – – 208 147

Further disclosure on the credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired and the Group’s policy 
for managing credit risk can be found in note 25.

Group
The Group’s other receivables are stated net of a provision for impairment of US$nil (2011: US$nil). 

Financial assets that are less than three months past due are not considered impaired. As of 31 March 2012, financial 
assets of US$nil (2011: US$nil) were past due but not impaired. There were no financial assets against which a doubtful 
debt allowance had been raised, at 31 March 2012 or 2011, respectively. The ageing analysis of these financial assets is  
as follows:

Group Group

2012 2011

Gross 
US$’000

Impairment 
US$’000

Net 
US$’000

Gross 
US$’000

Impairment 
US$’000

Net 
US$’000

Trade and other receivables 9,771 – 9,771 7,124 – 7,124
Less: prepayments and other non-financial assets (9,484) – (9,484) (5,364) – (5,364)

Financial assets within trade and other receivables 287 – 287 1,760 – 1,760

Not past due 287 – 287 1,760 – 1,760
Past due 0–30 days – – – – – –
Past due 31–365 days – – – – – –
Past due more than one year – – – – – –

Total 287 – 287 1,760 – 1,760

notes to the financial statements 
continued
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20. Trade and other receivables continued
Company
Loans from the Company to its subsidiaries and other amounts due from subsidiaries are stated net of provisions for 
impairment of US$0.2 million and US$nil respectively (2011: US$0.1 million and US$nil respectively).

Financial assets that are less than three months past due are not considered impaired.  There were no financial assets  
past due to the Company at 31 March 2012 or 2011, respectively. The ageing analysis of Company’s financial assets is  
as follows:

Company Company

2012 2011

Gross 
US$’000

Impairment 
US$’000

Net 
US$’000

Gross 
US$’000

Impairment 
US$’000

Net 
US$’000

Trade and other receivables 174,033 (208) 173,825 121,085 (147) 120,938
Less: prepayments and other non-financial assets (234) – (234) (346) – (346)

Financial assets within trade and other receivables 173,799 (208) 173,591 120,739 (147) 120,592

Not past due 173,799 (208) 173,591 120,739 (147) 120,592
Past due 0–30 days – – – – – –
Past due 31–365 days – – – – – –
Past due more than one year – – – – – –

Total 173,799 (208) 173,591 120,739 (147) 120,592

21. Inventories
Group

2012 
US$’000 

2011 
US$’000

Materials and supplies 11,304 12,248
Crude oil inventory 1,355 1,020

Total inventory 12,659 13,268

Materials and supplies are principally comprised of drilling equipment to be used in the exploration and development of 
the Group’s oil and gas properties in Kazakhstan.

22. Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 3,631 25,534 1,203 20,674

Group
Included in cash at bank and on hand are amounts of US$2.0 million (2011: US$1.6 million) required to be deposited in 
an environmental restoration and rehabilitation fund under the terms of its Licence.

Group and Company
Under the terms of the Group’s Credit Facility with Macquarie Bank Limited (note 23), the Company is required to 
maintain a balance on a debt service reserve account representing the next three months’ expected interest charge. 
The balance on this account at 31 March 2012 amounted to US$0.9 million (2011: US$0.1 million), and is included  
in the total of cash at bank and on hand for the Group and Company, above.
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23. Borrowings
Group and Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Bank borrowings due within one year 50,170 6,026

Current debt 50,170 6,026

Convertible bond 80,872 77,989

Non-current debt 80,872 77,989

Total borrowings 131,042 84,015

Bank borrowings
In June 2007, the Group entered into a US$100 million revolving mezzanine Credit Facility (the “Credit Facility”) with 
Macquarie Bank Limited (“Macquarie”). The material provisions of the Credit Facility are as follows:

—— Interest payable monthly at LIBOR plus 6.5%.
—— Principal repayments commence on 31 July 2012, comprising seven monthly payments of US$2.0 million until  
31 January 2013, US$4.0 million on 28 February 2013 and the remaining balance on 31 March 2013.
—— Secured by pledges in favour of Macquarie over substantially all of the Group’s assets. 

A reconciliation of the amounts outstanding on the Credit Facility is as follows:
Group and 
Company

US$’000

Balance at 1 April 2010 58,579
Drawdown of loan facility 12,272
Repayment of loan facility (64,825)

Balance at 31 March 2011 6,026
Drawdown of loan facility 44,144

Balance at 31 March 2012 50,170

The fair value of the floating rate bank borrowings at 31 March 2012 approximates to their gross carrying value of 
US$50.2 million (2011: US$6.0 million). 

At 31 March 2012, the Group was in breach of its banking covenants relating to certain financial ratios. 

At 31 March 2012, the Credit Facility had a total borrowing base of US$58.0 million available through 30 June 2012, of 
which US$50.2 million was borrowed and a further US$3.0 million was reserved for outstanding letters of credit. 

Convertible bonds
Max Petroleum completed an offering of convertible bonds on 8 September 2006 (the “Bonds”), raising a total of US$75 
million before issuance costs. Cash interest payments due on 8 March 2009, 8 September 2009 and 8 September 2010 
were deferred and converted into additional principal (i.e. payment in kind or “PIK”), resulting in a revised principal of 
US$85.6 million. 

The Bonds bear interest at 6.75% per annum, payable semi-annually, and are convertible at a price of 32p per ordinary 
share, with a fixed exchange rate of US$1.49 to £1. The Bondholders have a right to convert the Bonds through to final 
maturity on 8 September 2013. Furthermore, the holders will have certain rights to force the Company to redeem the 
Bonds if certain material events of default occur such as revocation of the Group’s Licence to its oil and gas properties in 
Kazakhstan. The Group has the right to redeem the Bonds if the Bonds trade at an average price of 130% of the 
conversion price for a minimum of 20 out of 30 consecutive trading days or if at any time a minimum of 85% of the 
Bonds have been converted.

Amendments to the Bonds in May 2009 were deemed to be a substantial modification, triggering a debt extinguishment 
and recognition of new debt under the requirements of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 

notes to the financial statements 
continued
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23. Borrowings continued
Following the debt extinguishment, the fair value of the Bonds was estimated and allocated between long-term debt and 
equity. The additional principal arising from the interest PIKs occurring on 8 September 2009 and 8 September 2010 were 
also allocated between long-term debt and equity. The long-term debt component is measured at amortised cost using an 
effective interest rate of 11%. The option to convert interest into PIK was for two years and expired on 8 September 2010.

Movements in the Bonds during the year are analysed as follows:
Group and Company

Gross 
US$’000

Bond
discount1

US$’000
Net 

US$’000

Balance at 1 April 2010 81,902 (11,277) 70,625
8 September 2010 interest PIK added to principal 3,686 (412) 3,274
Notional interest incurred – 4,090 4,090

Balance at 31 March 2011 85,588 (7,599) 77,989
Notional interest incurred – 2,883 2,883

Balance at 31 March 2012 85,588 (4,716) 80,872

1	 On initial recognition, the equity component of the convertible bond is booked as a bond discount, which is subsequently amortised over the maturity of the Bonds using 
the effective interest rate.

The fair value of the Bonds at 31 March 2012 and 2011, determined by reference to the published closing price quotation 
from the Channel Islands Stock Exchange on that date, was as follows:

Group and Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Fair value of convertible bond 48,266 50,937

Interest expense
During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group incurred US$11.1 million (2011: US$20.4 million) in interest expense 
in respect of the Bonds and the Credit Facility, of which US$9.0 million (2011: US$9.8 million) was capitalised to 
intangible assets – exploration and appraisal expenditure. 

24. Fair values
The directors have reviewed the financial statements and have concluded that, other than as disclosed relating to the fair 
values of the borrowings (note 23), there are no significant differences between the book values and the fair values of the 
financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group and Company as at 31 March 2012 and 2011.

25. Financial risk management
Capital risk management
The Group is engaged in the exploration and production of oil and gas assets in the Republic of Kazakhstan. The Group’s 
strategy is substantially to increase reserves, production and cash flow from its existing and future shallow, post-salt 
discoveries in its Blocks A&E Licence area, while continuing to pursue the higher impact exploration potential of its 
pre-salt portfolio.

The Group’s approach to managing capital is to ensure that the Group has enough liquidity to execute its business strategy 
during the next three to five years, with an ultimate goal of becoming self-financing from cash flow from operations and 
adding significant tangible asset value by proving up oil and gas reserves. The Group’s capital structure consists of debt, 
including its Bonds and Credit Facility (note 23), cash and cash equivalents (note 22), and equity attributable to owners of 
the Company (notes 29, 30 and 31), comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained earnings.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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25. Financial risk management continued
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may put in place new debt facilities, issue new shares for cash or 
repay or restructure existing debt facilities as appropriate.

The Group and Company’s capital and net debt were made up as follows: 
Group Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Bank borrowings 50,170 6,026 50,170 6,026
Convertible bond 80,872 77,989 80,872 77,989
Less cash and cash equivalents (3,631) (25,534) (1,203) (20,674)

Net debt 127,411 58,481 129,839 63,341
Equity 115,671 118,396 171,003 182,741

Capital and net debt 243,082 176,877 300,842 246,082

Net debt is calculated as debt, as shown in the borrowings note (note 23), less cash and cash equivalents.

Financial instruments risk management 
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

—— credit risk.
—— liquidity risk.
—— market risk.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks. Further quantitative disclosures are 
included throughout these consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents and borrowings. Together with the issue 
of equity share capital, the main purpose of these is to finance the Group’s operations and expansion. The Group has 
other financial instruments such as trade receivables and trade payables which arise directly from normal trading.

In relation to an equity placing in March 2011 (see note 29), the Group entered into a foreign currency forward contract 
to convert the placing proceeds from pounds sterling to US dollars. This was settled during the year ended 31 March 2011 
and there were no derivatives outstanding at 31 March 2011 or 31 March 2012. In relation to its principal operating 
activities, the Group has not entered into any derivatives or other hedging instruments during either the year ended 
31 March 2012 or the year ended 31 March 2011. 

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the 
risk of financial loss from default. 

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalent balances is limited as the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings 
assigned by international ratings agencies. 

The Group sells to a small number of domestic crude buyers in Kazakhstan and has one international customer for its 
export sales. There is no credit risk arising from domestic sales of crude oil in the Republic of Kazakhstan as the Group is 
paid in advance for the delivery of crude oil to the local buyer. Credit risk on export sales of crude oil from the Republic 
of Kazakhstan is managed by stand-by letters of credit issued in the Group’s favour by recognised international banks 
with high credit ratings.

The Group and Company do not hold any other collateral as security against trade and other receivables.

notes to the financial statements 
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25. Financial risk management continued
Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk 
at the reporting date was:

Group Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Trade and other receivables (note 20) 9,771 7,124 173,825 120,938
Less: prepayments and other non-financial assets (9,484) (5,364) (234) (346)

Receivables classified as financial assets 287 1,760 173,591 120,592
Cash and cash equivalents (note 22) 3,631 25,534 1,203 20,674

3,918 27,294 174,794 141,266

The Group’s trade and other receivables not classified as financial assets include US$7.2 million (2011: US$2.7 million) of 
recoverable Kazakh VAT (note 20).

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s 
approach to managing its liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquid funds and 
available debt and equity capital to meet its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage 
to the Group’s reputation. 

Due to the nature of the underlying business, this is managed by careful monitoring of rolling forecasts of the Group’s 
liquidity reserve (comprised of undrawn borrowing facilities (note 23) and cash and cash equivalents (note 22)) on the 
basis of expected cash flow and projected amount of capital expenditure required. 

Further discussion of the Group’s liquidity and capital resources may be found on page 14 of the Business Review.

The table below analyses the Group’s and Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows at maturity. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the 
impact of discounting is not significant. Prepayments from customers and certain other amounts included in trade and 
other payables are not classified as financial liabilities, and have been excluded from the tables below.

Group

Less than 
6 months 
US$’000

6–12 months 
US$’000

1–2 years 
US$’000

2–5 years 
US$’000

More than 
5 years 

US$’000

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

US$’000

Carrying 
value 

US$’000

At 31 March 2012
Convertible bond1 2,889 2,889 88,476 – – 94,254 81,241
Bank borrowings 50,170 – – – – 50,170 50,170
Trade and other payables 18,195 – – – – 18,195 18,195

71,254 2,889 88,476 – – 162,619 149,606

At 31 March 2011
Convertible bond2 2,889 2,889 5,777 88,476 – 100,031 78,358
Bank borrowings 6,026 – – – – 6,026 6,026
Trade and other payables 5,745 1,102 – – – 6,847 6,847

14,660 3,991 5,777 88,476 – 112,904 91,231

1	 The above convertible bond carrying value of US$81.2 million includes US$0.4 million of accrued interest, included within trade and other payables in the balance sheet.
2	 The above convertible bond carrying value of US$78.4 million includes US$0.4 million of accrued interest, included within trade and other payables in the balance sheet.
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25. Financial risk management continued
Company

Less than 
6 months 
US$’000

6–12 months 
US$’000

1–2 years 
US$’000

2–5 years 
US$’000

More than 
5 years 

US$’000

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

US$’000

Carrying 
value 

US$’000

At 31 March 2012
Convertible bond1 2,889 2,889 88,476 – – 94,254 81,241
Bank borrowings 50,170 – – – – 50,170 50,170
Trade and other payables 2,808 – – – – 2,808 2,808

55,867 2,889 88,476 – – 147,232 134,219

At 31 March 2011
Convertible bond2 2,889 2,889 5,777 88,476 – 100,031 78,358
Bank borrowings 6,026 – – – – 6,026 6,026
Trade and other payables 2,422 – – – – 2,422 2,422

11,337 2,889 5,777 88,476 – 108,479 86,806

1	 The above convertible bond carrying value of US$81.2 million includes US$0.4 million of accrued interest, included within trade and other payables in the balance sheet.
2	 The above convertible bond carrying value of US$78.4 million includes US$0.4 million of accrued interest, included within trade and other payables in the balance sheet.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and other market prices 
will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Group’s activities expose it 
primarily to the financial risks of changes in commodity prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The 
Group has not entered into any derivative instruments to mitigate the commodity price risk associated with its underlying 
oil revenues. 

Foreign currency risk management
The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Hence, exposures to exchange fluctuations 
may arise from sales, purchases, cash balances and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currency of the Group’s entities, being the US dollar. The currency in which these transactions and balances 
are primarily denominated is the US dollar, and as such, the Group is not exposed to significant foreign exchange risk. 
There were no foreign currency financial derivatives in place at 31 March 2012 or 31 March 2011. It is the Group’s policy 
to manage its foreign exchange risk by minimising balances and transactions in foreign currencies, as analysed below:

—— The Group’s borrowings are denominated in US dollars and therefore not subject to foreign exchange risk.
—— The Group invoices export crude oil sales in US dollars which are therefore not subject to foreign exchange risk.
—— The Group invoices domestic crude oil sales in the local currency, the Kazakh tenge, on a prepayments basis. 
—— The Group holds the majority of its cash and cash equivalents in US dollars. 

Exposure to currency risk
The Group is mainly exposed to currency risks on certain bank deposits, receivables and payables denominated in GBP 
and KZT.

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk from financial instruments was as follows, based on US dollar equivalent 
carrying amounts at the reporting date:

Group Group

2012 2011

In US$’000 equivalent GBP KZT EUR GBP KZT EUR

Trade and other receivables 174 – – 253 – –
Cash and cash equivalents 39 47 66 362 277 60
Trade and other payables (398) (8,745) (35) (331) (4,745) (64)

Net exposure (185) (8,698) 31 284 (4,468) (4)

notes to the financial statements 
continued
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25. Financial risk management continued
The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows, based on US dollar equivalent carrying amounts at the 
reporting date:

Company Company

2012 2011

In US$’000 equivalent GBP KZT EUR GBP KZT EUR

Trade and other receivables 174 – – 253 – –
Cash and cash equivalents 36 – – 362 – –
Trade and other payables (398) – – (328) – (30)

Net exposure (188) – – 287 – (30)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The following tables detail the Group’s and Company’s sensitivity to a 10% strengthening in US dollars against the 
respective foreign currencies, which represents management’s assessment of a reasonable change in foreign exchange rates. 
This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant and has been determined based on the change taking place 
at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period. 

A 10% strengthening of the US dollar at 31 March would have increased (decreased) the Group’s and Company’s equity 
and profit or loss by the amounts shown below:

Group Group

2012 2011

Effect in US$’000 GBP KZT EUR GBP KZT EUR

Profit or (loss) 19 870 (3) (28) 447 –
Equity – – – – – –

Company Company

2012 2011

Effect in US$’000 GBP KZT EUR GBP KZT EUR

Profit or (loss) 19 – – (29) – 3
Equity – – – – – –

A 10% weakening of the US dollar against the currencies above at 31 March would have had an equal but opposite effect 
on the amounts shown above, assuming all other variables remained constant.

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating interest rates. 
The Group does not hedge its interest rate exposures.

Exposure to interest rate risk
At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Group

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Fixed rate instruments
Convertible bond (85,588) (85,588)

Variable rate instruments
Cash and cash equivalents 3,631 6,134
Bank borrowings (50,170) (6,026)

(46,539) 108

The above analysis excludes cash and cash equivalents of US$nil held in non-interest bearing accounts at 31 March 2012 
(2011: US$19.4 million).
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25. Financial risk management continued
At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Fixed rate instruments
Convertible bond (85,588) (85,588)

Variable rate instruments
Cash and cash equivalents 1,203 1,274
Intercompany loans 45,493 40,158
Bank borrowings (50,170) (6,026)

(3,474) 35,406

The above analysis excludes cash and cash equivalents of US$nil held in non-interest bearing accounts at 31 March 2012 
(2011: US$19.4 million).

Interest rate sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, 
a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss or equity.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates at the balance sheet date. For 
variable rate instruments, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the instrument outstanding at the balance 
sheet date was outstanding for the whole year. At the balance sheet date, if interest rates had been 200 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s and Company’s profit or loss and equity would have 
increased (decreased) by the amounts shown below:

Group

Profit or (loss) Equity

200 bp 
increase 

US$’000

200 bp 
decrease 
US$’000

200 bp 
increase 

US$’000

200 bp 
decrease 
US$’000

At 31 March 2012
Variable rate instruments (931) 1,003 – –

At 31 March 2011
Variable rate instruments 2 (2) – –

Company

Profit or (loss) Equity

200 bp 
increase 

US$’000

200 bp 
decrease 
US$’000

200 bp 
increase 

US$’000

200 bp 
decrease 
US$’000

At 31 March 2012
Variable rate instruments (69) 567 – –

At 31 March 2011
Variable rate instruments 708 (128) – –

notes to the financial statements 
continued
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25. Financial risk management continued
The amounts generated from the sensitivity analyses are estimates of the impact of market risk assuming that specified 
changes occur. Actual results in the future may differ materially from these results due to developments in the global 
financial markets which may cause exchange rates or interest rates to vary from the hypothetical amounts disclosed 
above, which therefore should not be considered a projection of future events and losses.

26. Deferred income tax
Group
Where the realisation of deferred tax assets is dependent on future profits, the Group recognises losses carried forward 
and other deferred tax assets only to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits 
is probable. 

At 31 March 2012, the Group had deferred tax liabilities arising from temporary differences of US$15.1 million  
(2011: US$8.5 million), which was fully offset against US$15.1 million of available deferred tax assets arising from losses 
(2011: US$8.5 million). There was no deferred tax recognised in the income statement during the year (2011: US$nil).  
The Group did not recognise other potential deferred tax assets arising from losses of US$25.6 million (2011: US$28.6 
million) as there is insufficient evidence of future taxable profits. Unrecognised losses of US$1.0 million can be carried 
forward for up to 10 years, US$2.8 million can be carried forward up to 20 years and the balance of losses of US$21.8 
million can be carried forward indefinitely.

At 31 March 2012, the Group had other deferred tax assets of US$1.0 million (2011: US$1.2 million) in respect of the 
exploration assets pool, depreciation, share-based payments and other temporary differences which had not been 
recognised because of insufficient evidence of future taxable profits.

There are no significant unrecognised temporary differences associated with undistributed profits of subsidiaries at  
31 March 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Company
At 31 March 2012 and 2011 respectively, the Company had no recognised deferred tax assets or liabilities. 

At 31 March 2011, the Company had not recognised potential deferred tax assets arising from losses of US$32.4 million (2011: 
US$31.4 million) as there is insufficient evidence of future taxable profits. The losses can be carried forward indefinitely.

At 31 March 2012, the Company had other deferred tax assets of US$0.1 million (2011: US$0.2 million) in respect of 
share-based payments and other temporary differences which had not been recognised because of insufficient evidence of 
future taxable profits.

27. Provision for liabilities and other charges
Group

Provision for 
decommissioning  

costs 
US$’000

Balance at 1 April 2010 1,551
Additions 122
Utilisation of provision (156)
Unused amounts reversed (57)
Changes in estimates 71
Adjustment for change in real discount rate (132)
Unwinding of discount (note 9) 126

Balance at 31 March 2011 1,525
Additions 698
Unused amounts reversed (51)
Changes in estimates 432
Adjustment for change in real discount rate 90
Unwinding of discount (note 9) 134

Balance at 31 March 2012 2,828
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27. Provision for liabilities and other charges continued
The decommissioning provision reflects the present value of internal estimates of future decommissioning costs of the 
Group’s oil and gas wells as at the relevant balance sheet date determined using local pricing conditions and requirements. 
These costs are expected to be incurred between 2017 and 2034. The timing of payments related to provisions is 
uncertain and is dependent on various items which are not always within management’s control.

The amount provided at 31 March 2012 was revised to include estimated decommissioning costs of new wells drilled in 
the year and for revised estimates related to the timing of payments.

The provision has been estimated using existing technology, at current prices, and discounted using a real discount rate of 
2.6% (2011: 3.1%).

28. Trade and other payables
Group Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Trade payables 14,994 4,160 303 146
Other payables 1,427 3,675 – –
Loans payable by the Company to its subsidiaries – – 2,000 2,000
Social security and other taxes 711 5,117 340 528
Accruals and deferred income 15,786 5,150 874 646

32,918 18,102 3,517 3,320

The Group’s accruals and deferred income at 31 March 2012 include US$13.0 million of prepayments from domestic 
customers in Kazakhstan for crude oil sales (2011: US$0.1 million).

The Group’s other payables at 31 March 2011 include US$3.6 million of interest payable to the Kazakh tax authorities in 
relation to the Tax Claim, see note 10.

29. Share capital
The Company has two classes of share capital, which carry no right to fixed income: ordinary shares and deferred shares. 
Neither class of share is redeemable by the holder.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled:
—— To receive notice of, attend and vote at any general meeting of the Company.
—— To receive dividends as may be declared from time to time and any distribution. 
—— On a return of capital on a winding up, to receive payment of the nominal capital of 0.01p for each ordinary share held 
and a share in the Company’s residual assets.

The deferred share class was created in 2005 in a capital restructuring and no further shares will be issued. A deferred 
share carries no voting or dividend rights. On a return of capital on a winding up, the holders of deferred shares shall only 
be entitled to receive the amount paid up on such shares after the holders of the ordinary shares have received the sum of 
0.01p for each ordinary share held by them and shall have no other right to participate in the assets of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Company issued 100,355,247 ordinary shares, comprising:
—— The cashless exercise of 143,971,948 of the Credit Facility warrants, resulting in the issue of 94,793,580 new 
ordinary shares.
—— The exercise of 4,920,000 of the Bondholder warrants for total cash proceeds of US$0.4 million, resulting in the issue 
of 4,920,000 new ordinary shares.
—— The exercise of 641,667 share options for total cash proceeds of US$0.05 million, resulting in the issue of 641,667  
new ordinary shares.

notes to the financial statements 
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29. Share capital continued
During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Company issued 481,682,114 ordinary shares, comprising:

—— The issue of 309,846,935 new ordinary shares to institutional investors at 17p per share, generating cash proceeds of 
US$85.2 million (GBP52.7 million).
—— The exercise of 133,971,947 of the Credit Facility warrants for proceeds of US$9.8 million, used to pay down the 
principal amount outstanding under the Company’s Credit Facility, resulting in the issue of 133,971,947 new 
ordinary shares.
—— The exercise of 27,580,000 of the Bondholder warrants for total cash proceeds of US$2.2 million, resulting in the issue 
of 27,580,000 new ordinary shares.
—— The cashless exercise of 13,700,000 of the Credit Facility warrants, resulting in the issue of 9,789,899 new 
ordinary shares.
—— The exercise of 493,333 share options for total cash proceeds of US$0.03 million, resulting in the issue of 493,333  
new ordinary shares.

 
All shares issued are fully paid up.

Number of shares

Issued share capital

Ordinary shares  
of 0.01p each

Deferred shares 
of 14.99p each

At 1 April 2010 436,451,497 28,253,329
Increase 481,682,114 –

At 31 March 2011 918,133,611 28,253,329
Increase 100,355,247 –

At 31 March 2012 1,018,488,858 28,253,329

Nominal value

Issued share capital

Ordinary 
shares of 

0.01p each 
US$’000

Deferred 
shares of 

14.99p each 
US$’000

Total all 
classes 

US$’000

At 1 April 2010 78 7,864 7,942
Increase 78 – 78

At 31 March 2011 156 7,864 8,020
Increase 15 – 15

At 31 March 2012 171 7,864 8,035

Authorised share capital
On 13 October 2009 a special resolution was passed to replace the Company’s Articles of Association. Under the new 
Articles of Association, effective 1 October 2009, the Company no longer has an authorised share capital and thus no 
longer has a statutory restriction on the maximum allotment of shares.

30. Share premium 
Group and Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

At 1 April 356,598 265,043
Premium on shares issued during the year 7,783 97,800
Expenses of issue of equity shares – (6,245)

At 31 March 364,381 356,598
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31. Other reserves
Group

Reserve 
arising on 
purchase 

of minority 
interest 

US$’000

Convertible 
bond equity 

reserve 
US$’000

Share-based 
payment 

reserve 
US$’000

Warrant 
reserve 

US$’000

Total other 
reserves 

US$’000

At 1 April 2010 (72,495) 14,421 59,234 107,531 108,691
Issue of share capital – cashless exercise of warrants – – – (643) (643)
Share-based payment – – 1,961 – 1,961
Convertible bond interest deferral, equity portion – 412 – – 412
Warrants issued to Bondholders – – – 4,025 4,025

At 31 March 2011 (72,495) 14,833 61,195 110,913 114,446
Issue of share capital – cashless exercise of warrants – – – (7,340) (7,340)
Share-based payment – – 4,968 – 4,968

At 31 March 2012 (72,495) 14,833 66,163 103,573 112,074

Company

Convertible 
bond equity 

reserve 
US$’000

Share-based 
payment 

reserve 
US$’000

Warrant 
reserve 

US$’000

Total other 
reserves 

US$’000

At 1 April 2010 14,421 59,234 107,531 181,186
Issue of share capital – cashless exercise of warrants – – (643) (643)
Share-based payment – 1,961 – 1,961
Convertible bond interest deferral, equity portion 412 – – 412
Warrants issued to Bondholders – – 4,025 4,025

At 31 March 2011 14,833 61,195 110,913 186,941
Issue of share capital – cashless exercise of warrants – – (7,340) (7,340)
Share-based payment – 4,968 – 4,968

At 31 March 2012 14,833 66,163 103,573 184,569

Credit Facility warrants
In June 2007, the Group entered into a US$100 million revolving mezzanine Credit Facility with Macquarie. 

In February 2009, the Company amended the Credit Facility (the “2009 Amendment”) and issued Macquarie an 
amended and restated warrant deed to subscribe for up to 547,918,106 new ordinary shares in the Company (the 
“Warrant Deed”), which included vesting criteria linked to the level of the available borrowing basis under the Credit 
Facility. The Warrant Deed replaced warrants previously issued to Macquarie in 2007 and 2008. The 2009 Amendment 
and Warrant Deed were approved by the Company’s shareholders in a general meeting on 12 May 2009. 

On closing the 2009 Amendment on 23 February 2009, Macquarie was entitled to subscribe for up to 121,759,579 
ordinary shares at 4.54p per ordinary share as a result of amounts already drawn down under the Credit Facility. This 
right was subject to shareholder approval of the Warrant Deed which was received on 12 May 2009.

On 12 August 2009, the amount of the borrowing base commitment under the Credit Facility was increased from US$50 
million to US$80 million. Accordingly, Macquarie’s entitlement to subscribe for a further 243,519,158 additional shares 
under the Warrant Deed vested on that date. The total vested warrants under the Warrant Deed amounted to an 
aggregate of 365,278,737 ordinary shares of the Company with exercise prices between 4.54p and 5.67p. 

Subsequently, Macquarie syndicated a portion of the Credit Facility to various third party investors. In conjunction with 
the syndication, Macquarie assigned its vested rights to subscribe for 97,334,842 new ordinary shares under the Warrant 
Deed to those various third-party investors and a revised warrant deed was issued to Macquarie and new warrant deeds 
issued to those third party investors (the “Warrant Deeds”).
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31. Other reserves continued
On 2 March 2011, in accordance with the terms of an amendment to extend the maturity date of the facility to 31 March 
2013, Macquarie agreed to cancel the final tranche of unvested warrants exercisable into 182,639,369 ordinary shares of 
the Company at an exercise price of 6.13p per ordinary share.

Exercise and expiry date
Each warrant tranche has an expiration date of five years from the date the relevant tranche vests, by which time the 
warrant holders need to have exercised their entitlement to subscribe for ordinary shares. 

Anti-dilution provisions
To prevent the dilution of the rights granted under the Warrant Deeds, the exercise price and the number of ordinary 
shares that may be purchased pursuant to the Warrant Deeds are subject to adjustments from time to time if ordinary 
shares are issued due to the conversion of the Company’s Bonds or due to the exercise of employee share options issued on 
or before 30 June 2009. The exercise price of any additional warrants issued by the Company under the anti-dilution 
provisions would be equal to 95% of the volume weighted average price for the five trading days prior to the dilutive event.

Anti-dilution grant
On 16 September 2011, an anti-dilution adjustment event pursuant to the Warrant Deeds, resulting from the exercise of 
employee share options, triggered aggregate adjustments of an additional 215,951 ordinary shares underlying the Warrant 
Deeds at an exercise price of 13.8p based on 95% of five day VWAP of 14.6p as at 16 September 2011.

The warrant table below sets out the Credit Facility warrants outstanding at 31 March 2012 and 2011:

2012 2011

Number of 
warrants

Weighted 
average 
exercise  

price 
(pence)

Weighted 
average 

market price 
on exercise 

(pence)
Number of 

warrants

Weighted 
average 
exercise  

price
 (pence)

Weighted 
average 

market price 
on exercise 

(pence)

Outstanding at start of year 192,448,914 5.2 – 522,760,230 5.3 –
Anti-dilution warrant grant 215,951 13.8 – – – –
Exercised (143,971,948) 5.1 14.4 (147,671,947) 4.5 15.6
Cancelled – – – (182,639,369) 6.1 –

Outstanding at end of year 48,692,917 5.5 – 192,448,914 5.2 –

During the year ended 31 March 2012, holders of Credit Facility warrants elected for the cashless exercise of their right to 
subscribe for 143,971,948 ordinary shares at exercise prices ranging from of 4.54p to 5.67p per share, resulting in the 
issue and allotment of 94,793,580 new ordinary shares and the transfer of US$7.3 million from the warrant reserve to 
share capital and share premium.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, holders of Credit Facility warrants elected for the cashless exercise of their right to 
subscribe for 13,700,000 ordinary shares at an exercise price of 4.54p per share, resulting in the issue and allotment of 
9,789,899 new ordinary shares and the transfer of US$0.6 million from the warrant reserve to share capital and share 
premium. On 10 March 2011, Macquarie exercised 133,971,947 of the Credit Facility warrants, generating proceeds of 
US$9.8 million which were used to pay down the principal amount outstanding under the Company’s Credit Facility.

Of the outstanding Credit Facility warrants at 31 March 2012, 48,692,917 were fully vested and exercisable  
(2011: 192,448,914). 
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31. Other reserves continued
Convertible bond warrants
On 8 March 2009, 8 September 2009 and 8 September 2010, the Company elected to defer the cash interest payments 
due on its Bonds into additional principal, which each vested a five year warrant exercisable at 5p per ordinary share over 
30 million ordinary shares (the “Bondholder warrants”). 

The warrant table below sets out the Bondholder warrants outstanding at 31 March 2012 and 2011:

2012 2011

Number  
of warrants

Weighted  
average  
exercise  

price  
(pence)

Weighted  
average  

market price  
on exercise  

(pence)
Number  

of warrants

Weighted  
average  
exercise  

price  
(pence)

Weighted  
average  

market price  
on exercise  

(pence)

Outstanding at start of year 13,260,000 5.0 – 10,840,000 5.0 –
Bondholder warrant grants – – – 30,000,000 5.0 –
Exercised (4,920,000) 5.0 16.8 (27,580,000) 5.0 18.0

Outstanding at end of year 8,340,000 5.0 – 13,260,000 5.0 –

Of the outstanding Bondholder warrants at 31 March 2012, 8,340,000 were fully vested and exercisable (2011: 13,260,000). 

32. Share-based payment
Share options
The Company has granted share options to directors, employees, strategic consultants and advisors to the Group to 
provide incentives for long-term performance and retention. 

Share options are typically granted with an exercise price equal to the closing market price of the Company’s shares on 
the date of grant. 

The share options granted are not subject to any performance criteria apart from, in respect of directors and employees, 
their continued service with and employment by the Group. Options are forfeited if the director or employee leaves the 
Group before the options vest.

The share options operate on a wholly equity-settled principle – the Group has no legal or constructive obligation to 
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

The vesting terms of the share options are as follows: 
—— Options granted to directors and employees typically vest in part after one year and proportionately thereafter up to a 
seven year term from date of grant, with the majority fully vesting after three years from the date of grant. 
—— Options granted to consultants and advisors typically vest in part within six months and proportionately on 
anniversaries thereafter with a three year term from date of grant. 
—— In October 2005, an exceptional form of share option was granted to two senior executive directors and a consultant 
responsible for the Company’s capital raising activities prior to its listing on AIM, the acquisition of the Company’s 
initial subsoil licences in oil and gas properties in Kazakhstan, and the AIM admission of the Company. The option 
vests in part on the first anniversary of grant and proportionately thereafter with a term of 10 years. 

The maximum term of options granted is 10 years and in the normal course of granting, seven years.
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32. Share-based payment continued
The share option table below sets out the options granted, exercised and outstanding at 31 March 2012 and 2011.

2012 2011

Number of  
share options

Weighted  
average  
exercise  

price  
(pence)

Weighted  
average  

market price  
on exercise 

(pence)
Number of  

share options

Weighted  
average  
exercise  

price  
(pence)

Weighted  
average  

market price  
on exercise  

(pence)

Outstanding at start of year 110,971,278 19.0 – 70,617,044 18.3 –
Granted 2,855,750 14.0 – 42,261,900 19.9 –
Forfeited or cancelled (2,586,146) 17.4 – (1,400,833) 16.5 –
Expired (861,152) 16.7 – (13,500) 4.8 –
Exercised (641,667) 4.8 14.6 (493,333) 4.8 17.3

Outstanding at end of year 109,738,063 19.0 – 110,971,278 19.0 –

Of the outstanding options at the end of the year, 74,740,693 options (2011: 53,734,365) were vested and exercisable at 
that date with a weighted average exercise price of 18.8p (2011: 19.1p).

In respect of options granted to strategic consultants and advisors, when measuring share-based payment transactions the 
Group considers that the value of the services received cannot be reliably measured and therefore the fair value of the 
equity instruments granted is used as a proxy.

The Black-Scholes valuation model is used to determine the fair value of the share options issued by the Company. For 
options granted during the year ended 31 March 2012, the expected volatility measured at the standard deviation of 
continuously compounded share returns is based on statistical analysis of the Company’s share price over the last four and 
a half years.

The following table represents the weighted averages of the variables used in their assumptions: 

2012 
Weighted 

average 

2011 
Weighted 

average 

Exercise price of option contract 14.0 19.9 
Share price on date of grant 14.0 15.8
Expected term before option exercise 4.0 years 4.0 years
Risk free interest rate 1.4% 2.4%
Expected dividend yield – –
Expected share volatility 119.0% 117.2%

The model also assumes lengths of vesting period to date of exercise from 3.5 to 4.5 years. 

The directors concluded that the average fair value of the options issued during the current year was 10.8p (2011: 11.7p). 
The Group has recorded a charge to administrative expenses in its consolidated income statement for the value of services 
of US$4.9 million (2011: US$1.8 million), net of adjustments for unvested options cancelled or forfeited during the year; 
and net of US$0.1 million (2011: US$0.1 million) capitalised to exploration and appraisal expenditure. The share-based 
payment reserve is stated as US$66.2 million (2011: US$61.2 million). 
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32. Share-based payment continued
For those options outstanding at year-end, the following table summarises the range of exercise prices, weighted average 
exercise prices and the average remaining life, analysed into the main groups of recipients, as follows:

2012 2011

Exercise price 
range 

(pence)
Number of share 

options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
(pence)

Average 
remaining 

contractual 
life 

(years)

Exercise price 
range 

(pence)
Number of share 

options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
(pence)

Average 
remaining 

contractual 
life 

(years)

Directors1 4.75–120.5 53,303,402 15.3 4.1 4.75–120.5 53,603,402 15.3 5.1
Employees 4.75–201.75 43,619,492 21.1 4.4 4.75–201.75 44,086,040 21.1 5.4
Advisory Committee 4.75–20 6,187,500 12.5 3.4 4.75–20 6,654,167 12.9 4.1
Other advisors and 

consultants 4.75–120.5 6,627,669 40.9 3.7 4.75–120.5 6,627,669 40.9 4.7

4.75–201.75 109,738,063 19.0 4.2 4.75–201.75 110,971,278 19.0 5.1

1 	 The directors’ share options at 31 March 2012 include 2,022,131 options held by past directors of the Company (2011: 2,322,131).

The average closing market price of the Company’s ordinary 0.01p shares during the year was 13.3p (2011: 16.7p). 

The Company did not modify or vary any share option arrangements during the year ended 31 March 2012 or 2011.

33. Notes to the cash flow statement
Reconciliation to cash generated from/(used in) operations

Group Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Loss before tax: (8,088) (18,130) (17,112) (27,940)
Adjustments for:
– Depreciation, depletion and amortisation (note 12) 16,520 14,306 65 108
– Share-based payment charge (note 11) 4,898 1,842 2,866 1,213
– Exploration and appraisal expenditure written-off (note 16) 4,360 8,997 – –
– Gain on disposal of subsidiary (note 19) – (1,999) – –
– Foreign exchange loss 70 114 19 (14)
– Impairment losses (note 7) – – 61 2,330
– Finance income (note 8) (20) (12) (356) (255)
– Finance costs (note 9) 2,672 12,991 11,134 20,894
– Change in provisions – (57) – –
Changes in working capital:
– Inventories 147 (337) – –
– Trade and other receivables (3,094) (1,241) (52,655) (8,544)
– Trade and other payables 10,808 194 196 2,077

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 28,273 16,668 (55,782) (10,131)
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33. Notes to the cash flow statement continued
Summary of non-cash transactions

Group Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Investing transactions
Share-based payment capitalised to exploration and appraisal assets 70 119 – –
Share-based payment contribution to subsidiaries – – 2,102 748
Non-cash interest expense capitalised to exploration and appraisal assets 2,328 5,667 – –
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation (note 12) 16,520 14,306 65 108
Exploration and appraisal expenditure written-off (note 16) 4,360 8,997 – –
Change in estimate for decommissioning provision (notes 16 and 17) 1,169 95 – –

Financing transactions
Non-cash issuance of ordinary shares (note 29) 7,340 10,468 7,340 10,468
Repayment of Credit Facility from warrant exercise proceeds (note 23) – 9,825 – 9,825
Offset of tax claim interest instalments against other tax liabilities (note 10) – 873 – –
Unwinding of discount on decommissioning provision (note 27) 134 126 – –
Convertible bond non-cash interest 2,883 11,818 2,883 11,818

34. Related party disclosures
The Company has no ultimate controlling party.

Key management personnel
Disclosures related to the remuneration of key management personnel as defined in IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures” 
are given in note 13. 

Intercompany transactions
During the year, the Company:

—— Invoiced rechargeable costs with mark-up to subsidiaries of US$2.1 million (2011: US$2.5 million).
—— Incurred recharges from subsidiaries of US$0.2 million (2011: US$0.1 million).
—— Received interest of US$0.3 million (2011: US$0.3 million) from subsidiaries on Group loans.
—— Provided funding (net of repayments) to its subsidiaries of US$52.7 million (2011: US$8.1 million).
—— Waived loans receivable from its subsidiaries of US$nil (2011: US$40.3 million).
—— Received loans from its subsidiaries of US$nil (2011: US$2.0 million).

During the year, the Company’s subsidiaries settled US$1.8 million of liabilities to third parties on behalf of the Company 
(2011: US$2.1 million).

The amount of loans repayable on demand from subsidiary undertakings to the Company at 31 March 2012 totalled 
US$169.6 million, of which US$45.5 million was interest bearing (2011: US$116.9 million and US$40.2 million, 
respectively). Loans receivable are stated net of provisions for impairment of US$0.2 million (2011: US$0.1 million)  
(note 20).

The amount of loans payable on demand by the Company at 31 March 2012 to its subsidiaries totalled US$2.0 million 
(2011: US$2.0 million), all of which were non-interest bearing.

Accounts receivable from subsidiary undertakings to the Company at 31 March 2012 totalled US$3.7 million  
(2011: US$3.4 million). 
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35. Operating lease arrangements
The lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense in the year were as follows:

Group Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Lease payments during the year 24,096 7,306 247 250
Less: Lease payments capitalised to exploration and appraisal expenditure (21,805) (5,717) – –

Lease payments recognised as an expense (note 11) 2,291 1,589 247 250

Lease payments during the year include drilling rig rental costs of US$19.8 million (2011: US$4.5 million).

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Group Company

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Within 1 year 1,745 1,470 167 110
Within 2–5 years 372 389 275 2

2,117 1,859 442 112

36. Commitments and contingencies 
The Group is committed under its Licence to certain future expenditures including a minimum work programme and 
reimbursement of historical costs incurred by the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan. The Group’s commitments 
under its Licence are as follows:

Group

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

Minimum work programme 55,397 39,918
Historical costs 24,201 23,346

79,598 63,264

The minimum work programme is agreed with the Ministry of Oil and Gas of the Republic of Kazakhstan (the “MOG”) 
and covers exploration and production activities in Blocks A&E. It also includes social infrastructure contributions and 
commitments for the training of local personnel. Qualifying exploration, development and operating expenditure 
incurred by the licence holder are deductable from these future commitments. During the year-ended 31 March 2012, the 
Group and the MOG signed an amendment to the Licence to transfer the Zhana Makat Field to Full Field Development 
(“FFD”) and extend the minimum work programme to 2020. The Group expects that the future revenues generated from 
operating the Field will significantly exceed its obligations under the minimum work programme.

The total commitment at 31 March 2012 includes US$24.2 million of historical costs incurred by the Republic of 
Kazakhstan for the exploration of Blocks A&E prior to the Group’s acquisition of the Licence (2011: US$23.3 million). 
Historical costs become payable from the date when a certain field is transferred to the production stage under FFD and 
the amount payable for the field is determined by the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan in a separate agreement. 
The amount of historical costs allocated to each discovery is determined based on a mining allotment agreed with the 
Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan once a commercial discovery has been made and FFD has started. During the 
year ended 31 March 2011, the Group recognised an estimated historical costs liability of US$1.0 million in relation to 
the commercial discovery at Zhana Makat, included within trade and other payables. The liability for Zhana Makat was 
revised to US$0.1 million during the year ended 31 March 2012 following final determination of the mining allotment. 

notes to the financial statements 
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37. Post balance sheet events
Amendment to the Blocks A&E Licence
In July 2012, the Group and the Ministry of Oil and Gas of the Republic of Kazakhstan signed an amendment to the 
Licence which increased the minimum work programme. Accordingly, the Group’s commitments under its subsoil 
contract increased from US$79.6 million (note 36) to US$85.3 million.

Suspension of NUR-1 well
Subsequent to 31 March 2012, the Group encountered difficulties drilling the NUR-1 well and, due to financial 
constraints, has suspended the well and released the rig. There is significant uncertainty whether the Group will be able  
to raise the necessary funding in order to be able to complete the drilling of the well prior to the expiry of the Licence and 
thus may not be able to fully recover the carrying amount of its intangible exploration and appraisal asset. Capitalised 
costs directly associated with NUR-1 totalled US$27.0 million at 31 March 2012 and had increased to US$39.3 million  
at the date of this report.

Credit Facility
Subsequent to 31 March 2012, the Company has borrowed a further US$2.0 million under its Credit Facility with 
Macquarie Bank (note 23), resulting in a total balance of US$55.2 million, including a US$3 million letter of credit,  
as of the date of this report.

The Credit Facility matures on 31 March 2013 and requires that the Group begin making amortisation payments of 
US$2 million per month beginning in July 2012. The Group did not make an amortisation payment in July 2012 as its  
net cash flow from operations is being applied against trade payables relating to its exploration and appraisal activities. 
The Group expects cash to be available to begin repaying borrowings under the Credit Facility in the medium term. The 
Group is in ongoing discussions with Macquarie regarding the use of its net cash flow from operations to fund its shallow 
drilling activities, as well as the timing and amount of principal payments required prior to 31 March 2013.

38. Non-IFRS measures
The Group presents Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (“EBITDA”) as a non-IFRS earnings 
measure to provide additional information to investors in order to allow an alternative method for assessing the Group’s 
financial results. EBITDA is defined as operating profit/(loss) before depreciation, depletion and amortisation, share-based 
payment expense, exploration and appraisal costs, and impairment losses. EBITDA is a key performance indicator used 
by the Board to measure underlying operating profitability. 

A reconciliation of operating profit to EBITDA is shown below:
Group

2012 
US$’000

2011 
US$’000

2010 
US$’000

Operating profit/(loss) (5,436) (5,151) (126,251)
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation (note 11) 16,520 14,306 13,295
Share-based payment expense, net of capitalisation (note 11) 4,898 1,842 2,130
Exploration and appraisal costs (note 11) 4,360 7,007 1,799
Impairment losses – – 116,248

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) 20,342 18,004 7,221
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Supplemental disclosure –  
oil and gas reserves and resources 
(unaudited)

The Group’s estimates of proved and probable reserve quantities are taken from the Group’s Competent Person’s 
evaluation report for the Group’s oil fields as of 31 March 2012. Proved reserves are estimated reserves that geological 
and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future years under existing economic  
and operating conditions, while probable reserves are estimated reserves determined to be more likely than not to be 
recoverable in future years under existing economic and operating conditions. Refer to the glossary for definitions.

All of the Group’s oil and gas assets are located in the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

Group proved plus probable reserves

Oil 
Mbbls

Gas 
Bcf Mboe

At 1 April 2011 7,841 – 7,841
Revisions of previous estimates (81) (81)
Discoveries and extensions 3,900 3,900
Acquisitions – – –
Divestitures – – –
Production (1,027) – (1,027)

Balance at 31 March 2012 10,633 – 10,633

Group proved plus probable reserves

Oil 
Mbbls

Gas 
Bcf Mboe

At 1 April 2010 4,677 – 4,677
Revisions of previous estimates 2,323 – 2,323
Discoveries and extensions 1,614 – 1,614
Acquisitions – – –
Divestitures – – –
Production (773) – (773)

Balance at 31 March 2011 7,841 – 7,841

Discoveries and extensions during the year ended 31 March 2012 comprise the Sagiz West, East Kyzylzhar I and Uytas 
fields, for further details see the Business Review on pages 11 and 12.

The revision in the reserve numbers in 2011 was due to a combination of factors, including higher crude oil prices and the 
stable performance of the Zhana Makat Field. Discoveries and extensions during 2011 comprised discoveries at Borkyldakty 
and Asanketken and an extension of the Zhana Makat Field for Triassic reserves at the southern end of the field.

Group proved plus probable plus possible reserves (“3P”)
The Group’s 3P reserves increased from 8.5 mmbo at 31 March 2011 to 14.6 mmbo at 31 March 2012. This includes  
an increase in possible reserves of 3.3 mmbo arising from discoveries at the Sagiz West and Uytas fields, 1.3 mmbo and 
2.0 mmbo, respectively. For further details see the Business Review on pages 11 and 12.

Contingent resources and oil-initially-in-place
As at 31 March 2012, the Group’s Competent Person estimated oil-initially-in-place for the Sagiz West and Uytas fields, 
of 101.3 mmbo and 64.9 mmbo, respectively, of which 79.8 mmbo and 27.2 mmbo were classified as in-place contingent 
resources. For further details see the Business Review on pages 11 and 12.
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glossary

The following expressions contained in this document have 
the following meanings unless the context otherwise 
requires or unless it is otherwise provided:

2D seismic
seismic recorded in two dimensions

2P reserves
proved plus probable reserves

3D seismic
seismology that uses a grid of numerous cables, rather than 
just a few lines stretched in one direction

3P reserves
proved plus probable plus possible reserves

accumulation
an individual body of petroleum-in-place

barrel
a unit of volume measurement used for petroleum and its 
products (7.3 barrels = 1 ton; 6.29 barrels = 1 cubic metre)

bbl
barrel of oil

bboe
billions of barrels of oil equivalent

bcf
billions of cubic feet

block
term commonly used to describe contract area or tract, as 
in “block of land”

boe
barrels of oil equivalent

bopd
barrels of oil production per day

Chance of Success (“CoS”)
The Geological Chance of Success is intended to evaluate the 
probability that a functioning petroleum system is in place for 
each prospective reservoir. The chance of success is the chance 
of the geological model being correct and that a discovery may 
occur. The chance of success is evaluated based on technical 
assessment of five key geological variables: trap, reservoir, 
source and timing, migration and seal

condensate
hydrocarbons which are in the gaseous state under 
reservoir conditions and which become liquid when 
temperature or pressure is reduced. A mixture of pentanes 
and higher hydrocarbons

contingent resources
contingent resources are those quantities of petroleum 
which are estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially 
recoverable from known accumulations, but the applied 
project(s) are not yet considered mature enough for 
commercial development due to one or more contingencies. 
Contingent resources may include, for example, projects 
for which there is currently no viable market, or where 
commercial recovery is dependent on the development of 
new technology, or where evaluation of the accumulation 
is insufficient to assess commerciality

crude oil
liquid petroleum as it comes out of the ground, as 
distinguished from refined oils manufactured out of it

discovery
an exploration well which has encountered hydrocarbons

exploration
activities associated with ascertaining the existence, 
location, extent or quality of mineralised material, 
including economic and technical evaluations of 
mineralised material

exploration drilling
drilling carried out to determine whether hydrocarbons are 
present in a particular area or structure

exploration well
a well in an unproven area or prospect, may also be known 
as a “wildcat well”

FFD
full field development

field
a geographical area under which an oil or gas reservoir lies

G&G
geological and geophysical

gas field
a field containing natural gas but no oil

geophysical
prospecting techniques which measure the physical 
properties (magnetism, conductivity, density, etc.)  
of rocks and define anomalies for further testing and  
the measurement of the earth’s physical properties to 
explore and delineate hydrocarbons, including electrical, 
seismic, gravity, magnetics, but not including drilling

hydrocarbon
a compound containing only the elements hydrogen and 
carbon. May exist as a solid, a liquid or a gas. The term is 
mainly used in a catch-all sense for oil, gas and condensate
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lead
a project associated with a potential accumulation that is 
currently poorly defined and requires more data acquisition 
and/or evaluation in order to be classified as a prospect

Licence
the Group’s licence for the exploration and production of 
hydrocarbons in Blocks A&E

mbbls
thousands of barrels of oil

mbo
thousand barrels of oil

mboe
thousands of barrels of oil equivalent 

mean
the mean is also known as the expectation or expected 
value. It is the average over the entire probability range, 
weighted with the probability of occurrence

mmbo
millions of barrels of oil

mmboe
millions of barrels of oil equivalent

natural gas
gas, occurring naturally, and often found in association 
with crude petroleum

oil
a mixture of liquid hydrocarbons of different molecular 
weights

oil-initially-in-place
oil-initially-in-place (“OIIP”) is that quantity of oil which 
is estimated to exist originally in naturally occurring 
accumulations. OIIP is, therefore, that quantity of oil 
which is estimated, as of a given date, to be contained in 
known accumulations, plus those quantities already 
produced therefrom, plus those estimated quantities in 
accumulations yet to be discovered. It is recognised that 
not all of the OIIP quantities may constitute potentially 
recoverable resources since the estimation of the 
proportion which may be recoverable can be subject to 
significant uncertainty and will change with variations in 
commercial circumstances, technological developments 
and data availability

oil field
a geographic area under which one or more oil reservoirs lie

operator
the company which has legal authority to drill wells and
undertake production of hydrocarbons. The operator is 
often part of a consortium and acts on behalf of this 
consortium

P10
the quantity for which there is a 10% probability that the
quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the 
estimate

P90
the quantity for which there is a 90% probability that the
quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the 
estimate

petroleum
a generic name for hydrocarbons, including crude oil, 
natural gas liquids, natural gas and their products

possible reserves
possible reserves are those additional reserves which analysis 
of geoscience and engineering data indicate are less likely to 
be recoverable than probable reserves. The total quantities 
ultimately recovered from the project have a low probability 
to exceed the sum of proved plus probable plus possible 
(“3P”), which is equivalent to the high estimate scenario. 
When probabilistic methods are used, there should be at 
least a 10% probability that the actual quantities recovered 
will equal or exceed the 3P estimate

post-salt
above the salt layer

pre-salt
below the salt layer

Pre-Caspian Basin
the sedimentary basin at the North end of the Caspian
extending from Astrakhan in Russia to Aktubinsk in West 
Kazakhstan. Sometimes called Pri-Caspian or Peri-Caspian

probable reserves
probable reserves are those unproved reserves which 
analysis of geological and engineering data suggest are 
more likely than not to be recoverable. In this context, 
when probabilistic methods are used, there should be at 
least a 50% probability that the quantities actually 
recovered will equal or exceed the sum of estimated proved 
plus probable reserves

prospect
a defined geological or geophysical feature or anomaly that 
has been surveyed and defined, usually by seismic data, to 
a degree that its configuration is fairly well established and 
that is considered potentially to have a hydrocarbon 
accumulation 

prospective resources
prospective resources are those quantities of petroleum 
which are estimated, on a given date, to be potentially 
recoverable from undiscovered accumulations

glossary 
continued
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proved reserves
proved reserves are those quantities of petroleum, which 
by analysis of geological and engineering data, can be 
estimated with reasonable certainty to be commercially 
recoverable, from a given date forward, from known 
reservoirs and under current economic conditions, 
operating methods, and government regulations. If 
deterministic methods are used, the term reasonable 
certainty is intended to express a high degree of confidence 
that the quantities will be recovered. If probabilistic 
methods are used, there should be at least a 90% 
probability that the quantities actually recovered will equal 
or exceed the estimate

PV10
after-tax net present value discounted at 10%

reserves
reserves are those quantities of petroleum which are 
anticipated to be commercially recoverable by application 
of development projects to known accumulations from a 
given date forward under defined conditions. Reserves 
must further satisfy the following criteria: they must be 
discovered, recoverable, commercial, and remaining (as of 
the evaluation date) based on the development project(s) 
applied. Reserves are further categorised in accordance 
with the level of certainty associated with the estimates as 
proved, probable or possible

reservoir
the underground formation where oil and gas has 
accumulated consisting of a porous and permeable rock to 
hold the oil or gas, and a cap rock that prevents its escape

risk
risk is defined as the probability of loss or failure. In the oil 
and gas industry, risk is commonly applied to the estimation 
of prospective (undiscovered) resources to account for the 
possibility that the outcome of drilling a well may not be 
successful. Risk is defined through the term geological chance 
of success which considers the geological factors that will 
result in the formation of a hydrocarbon reservoir with 
sufficient quality to allow for sustained flow rates of oil or gas

risked resources
risked prospective resource volumes are commonly 
categorised as Risked Mean Resources and are calculated 
by multiplying the unrisked mean resources by the 
geological chance of success to account for the risk of 
drilling an unsuccessful exploration well 

salt dome 
a thickening, up-welling, or doming of ductile salt after 
burial caused by variation in density and overburden 
pressure

seismic
recording of sound waves

super-giant
super-giant fields have ultimately recoverable reserves 
greater than 5 billion boe as, usually, giant fields have 
ultimately recoverable reserves greater than 500 million boe

TD
total depth of a well, when drilling has finished

TPP
trial production project

unrisked resources
unrisked prospective resource volumes are commonly
categorised as Unrisked P90, P50, P10 or Mean Resources 
and are estimated before multiplying by the geological 
chance of success which assumes that the drilling of an 
exploration well is successful

well log data 
measurements of the physical properties in the borehole 
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